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The notes will not bear interest. The amount that you will be paid on your notes on the stated maturity date
(November 9, 2018, subject to adjustment) is based on the performance of the MSCI EAFE® Index (which we refer to
as the “underlier”) as measured from the trade date (February 15, 2017) to and including the determination date
(November 6, 2018, subject to adjustment). If the final underlier level on the determination date is greater than the
initial underlier level (1,749.00, which was the closing level of the underlier on the trade date), the return on your
notes will be positive, subject to the maximum settlement amount ($1,237.00 for each $1,000 principal amount of the
notes). If the final underlier level is less than the buffer level, the return on your notes will be negative. You could lose
your entire investment in the notes.
To determine your payment at maturity, we will calculate the underlier return, which is the percentage increase or
decrease in the final underlier level from the initial underlier level. On the stated maturity date, for each $1,000
principal amount of your notes, you will receive an amount in cash equal to:

·
if the underlier return is positive (the final underlier level is greater than the initial underlier level), the sum of (i)
$1,000 plus (ii) the product of (a) $1,000 times (b) the upside participation rate of 150% times (c) the underlier
return, subject to the maximum settlement amount; or

· if the underlier return is zero or negative but not below -10.00% (the final underlier level is equal to or less than
the initial underlier level but not by more than 10.00%), $1,000; or

·

if the underlier return is negative and is below -10.00% (the final underlier level is less than the initial
underlier level by more than 10.00%), the sum of (i) $1,000 plus (ii) the product of (a) 100/90.00 (which is
approximately 1.1111) times (b) the sum of the underlier return plus 10.00% times (c) $1,000. This amount
will be less than $1,000.

Our initial estimated value of the notes as of the date of this pricing supplement is $989.40 per $1,000 in principal
amount, which is less than the original issue price. The actual value of the notes at any time will reflect many factors,
cannot be predicted with accuracy, and may be less than this amount. We describe our determination of the initial
estimated value in more detail below.
Your investment in the notes involves certain risks, including, among other things, our credit risk. See the section
“Additional Risk Factors Specific to Your Notes” beginning on page PS-7 of this pricing supplement.
Non-U.S. holders will not be subject to withholding on dividend equivalent payments under Section 871(m) of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code. Please see the section below, “Supplemental Discussion of U.S. Federal Income Tax
Consequences,” which applies to the notes.
The foregoing is only a brief summary of the terms of your notes. You should read the additional disclosure provided
in this pricing supplement so that you may better understand the terms and risks of your investment.
Original issue date: February 23, 2017 Original issue price: 100.00% of the principal amount
Underwriting discount: 0.00% of the principal amount Net proceeds to the issuer: 100.00% of the principal amount

See “Supplemental Plan of Distribution (Conflicts of Interest)” on page PS-18 of this pricing supplement.
The issue price, underwriting discount and net proceeds listed above relate to the notes we sell initially. We may
decide to sell additional notes after the date of this pricing supplement, at issue prices and with underwriting discounts
and net proceeds that differ from the amounts set forth above. The return (whether positive or negative) on your
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investment in the notes will depend in part on the issue price you pay for such notes.
Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any other regulatory body has approved or disapproved of these
securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this pricing supplement, the accompanying product prospectus
supplement, the accompanying prospectus supplement or the accompanying prospectus. Any representation to the
contrary is a criminal offense. The notes will not constitute deposits that are insured by the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation, the U.S. Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other Canadian or U.S. governmental agency or
instrumentality.
RBC Capital Markets, LLC
Pricing Supplement dated February 15, 2017.
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SUMMARY INFORMATION
We refer to the notes we are offering by this pricing supplement as the “offered notes” or the “notes.” Each of the offered
notes, including your notes, has the terms described below. Please note that in this pricing supplement, references to
“Royal Bank of Canada,” “we,” “our” and “us” mean only Royal Bank of Canada and all references to “$” or “dollar” are to
United States dollars. Also, references to the “accompanying prospectus” mean the accompanying prospectus, dated
January 8, 2016, as supplemented by the accompanying prospectus supplement, dated January 8, 2016, of Royal
Bank of Canada relating to the Senior Medium-Term Notes, Series G program of Royal Bank of Canada and
references to the “accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1” mean the accompanying product prospectus
supplement PB-1, dated January 14, 2016, of Royal Bank of Canada.
This section is meant as a summary and should be read in conjunction with the section entitled “General Terms of the
Notes” beginning on page PS-4 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1. Please note that certain
features described in the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1 are not applicable to the notes. This
pricing supplement supersedes any conflicting provisions of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1.
Key Terms
Issuer: Royal Bank of Canada
Underlier: the MSCI EAFE® Index (Bloomberg symbol, “MXEA Index”), as published by MSCI Inc. (“MSCI,” or the
“underlier sponsor”)
Specified currency: U.S. dollars (“$”)
Denominations: $1,000 and integral multiples of $1,000 in excess of $1,000. The notes may only be transferred in
amounts of $1,000 and increments of $1,000 thereafter
Principal amount: each note will have a principal amount of $1,000; $1,132,000 in the aggregate for all the offered
notes; the aggregate principal amount of the offered notes may be increased if the issuer, at its sole option, decides to
sell an additional amount of the offered notes on a date subsequent to the date of this pricing supplement
Purchase at amount other than principal amount: the amount we will pay you at the stated maturity date for your notes
will not be adjusted based on the issue price you pay for your notes, so if you acquire notes at a premium (or discount)
to principal amount and hold them to the stated maturity date, it could affect your investment in a number of ways.
The return on your investment in such notes will be lower (or higher) than it would have been had you purchased the
notes at a price equal to the principal amount. Also, the buffer level would not offer the same measure of protection to
your investment as would be the case if you had purchased the notes at the principal amount. Additionally, the cap
level would be triggered at a lower (or higher) percentage return than indicated below, relative to your initial
investment. See “If the Original Issue Price for Your Notes Represents a Premium to the Principal Amount, the Return
on Your Notes Will Be Lower Than the Return on Notes for Which the Original Issue Price Is Equal to the Principal
Amount or Represents a Discount to the Principal Amount” on page PS-12 of this pricing supplement
Cash settlement amount (on the stated maturity date): for each $1,000 principal amount of your notes, we will pay you
on the stated maturity date an amount in cash equal to:
· if the final underlier level is greater than or equal to the cap level, the maximum settlement amount;

· if the final underlier level is greater than the initial underlier level but less than the cap level, the sum of (1) $1,000plus (2) the product of (i) $1,000 times (ii) the upside participation rate times (iii) the underlier return;

· if the final underlier level is equal to or less than the initial underlier level but greater than or equal to the buffer level,$1,000; or

·
if the final underlier level is less than the buffer level, the sum of (1) $1,000 plus (2) the product of (i) the buffer rate
times (ii) the sum of the underlier return plus the buffer amount times (iii) $1,000. In this case, the cash settlement
amount will be less than the principal amount of the notes, and you will lose some or all of the principal amount.
Initial underlier level: 1,749.00, which was the closing level of the underlier on the trade date
Final underlier level: the closing level of the underlier on the determination date, except in the limited circumstances
described under “General Terms of the Notes—Determination Dates and Averaging Dates” on page PS-5 of the
accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1 and subject to adjustment as provided under “General Terms of the
Notes—Unavailability of the Level of the Underlier” on page PS-6 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement
PB-1.
Underlier return: the quotient of (1) the final underlier level minus the initial underlier level divided by (2) the initial
underlier level, expressed as a percentage
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Upside participation rate: 150%
Cap level:  115.80% of the initial underlier level
Maximum settlement amount: $1,237.00 for each $1,000 principal amount of the notes
Buffer level: 90.00% of the initial underlier level (equal to an underlier return of -10.00%)
Buffer amount: 10.00%
Buffer rate: the quotient of the initial underlier level divided by the buffer level, which equals approximately 111.11%

PS-2
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Trade date: February 15, 2017
Original issue date (settlement date): February 23, 2017
Determination date: November 6, 2018, subject to adjustment as described under “General Terms of the
Notes—Determination Dates and Averaging Dates” on page PS-5 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement
PB-1
Stated maturity date: November 9, 2018, subject to adjustment as described under “General Terms of the Notes—Stated
Maturity Date” beginning on page PS-5 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1
No interest: the offered notes will not bear interest
No listing: the offered notes will not be listed on any securities exchange or interdealer quotation system
No redemption: the notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity
Closing level: the official closing level of the underlier or any successor underlier published by the underlier sponsor
on such trading day for such underlier
Business day: as described under “General Terms of the Notes—Special Calculation Provisions—Business Day” on page
PS-11 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1
Trading day: as described under “General Terms of the Notes—Special Calculation Provisions—Trading Day” beginning on
page PS-11 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1
Use of proceeds and hedging: as described under “Use of Proceeds and Hedging” on page PS-13 of the accompanying
product prospectus supplement PB-1
ERISA: as described under “Employee Retirement Income Security Act” on page PS-20 of the accompanying product
prospectus supplement PB-1
Calculation agent: RBC Capital Markets, LLC (“RBCCM”)
Dealer: RBCCM
U.S. tax treatment: by purchasing a note, each holder agrees (in the absence of a change in law, an administrative
determination or a judicial ruling to the contrary) to treat the note as a pre-paid cash-settled derivative contract for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. However, the U.S. federal income tax consequences of your investment in the notes
are uncertain and the Internal Revenue Service could assert that the notes should be taxed in a manner that is different
from that described in the preceding sentence. Please see the discussion in the accompanying prospectus under “Tax
Consequences,” the discussion in the accompanying prospectus supplement under “Certain Income Tax Consequences,”
and the discussion (including the opinion of our counsel Morrison & Foerster LLP) in the accompanying product
prospectus supplement PB-1 under “Supplemental Discussion of U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences,” and the
discussion below under “Supplemental Discussion of U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences,” which apply to the
notes.
Canadian tax treatment: for a discussion of certain Canadian federal income tax consequences of investing in the
notes, please see the section entitled “Tax Consequences—Canadian Taxation” in the accompanying prospectus
CUSIP no.: 78012KA64
ISIN no.: US78012KA647
FDIC: the notes will not constitute deposits that are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Canada
Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other Canadian or U.S. governmental agency

PS-3

Edgar Filing: ROYAL BANK OF CANADA - Form 424B2

5



HYPOTHETICAL EXAMPLES
The following table and chart are provided for purposes of illustration only. They should not be taken as an indication
or prediction of future investment results and are intended merely to illustrate the impact that various hypothetical
final underlier levels on the determination date could have on the cash settlement amount at maturity, assuming all
other variables remain constant.
The examples below are based on a range of final underlier levels that are entirely hypothetical. No one can predict
what the underlier level will be on any day during the term of your notes, and no one can predict what the final
underlier level will be. The underlier has been highly volatile in the past—meaning that the underlier level has changed
considerably in relatively short periods—and its performance cannot be predicted for any future period.
The information in the following examples reflects hypothetical rates of return on the notes assuming that they are
purchased on the original issue date with a $1,000 principal amount and are held to maturity. If you sell your notes in
any secondary market prior to maturity, your return will depend upon the market value of your notes at the time of
sale, which may be affected by a number of factors that are not reflected in the table below, such as interest rates and
the volatility of the underlier. In addition, assuming no changes in market conditions or our creditworthiness and any
other relevant factors, the value of your notes on the trade date (as determined by reference to pricing models used by
RBCCM and taking into account our credit spreads) is, and the price you may receive for your notes may be,
significantly less than the principal amount. For more information on the value of your notes in the secondary market,
see “Additional Risk Factors Specific to Your Notes—The Price, if Any, at Which You May Be Able to Sell Your Notes
Prior to Maturity May Be Less than the Original Issue Price and Our Initial Estimated Value” below. The information
in the table also reflects the key terms and assumptions in the box below.
Key Terms and Assumptions

Principal amount $1,000

Upside participation rate 150%

Cap level 115.80% of the initial underlier level

Maximum settlement amount $1,237.00

Buffer level 90.00% of the initial underlier level

Buffer rate , which equals approximately 111.11%

Buffer amount 10.00%

Neither a market disruption event nor a non-trading day occurs on the
originally scheduled determination date

No change affecting the method by which the underlier sponsor
calculates the underlier

Notes purchased on original issue date at a price equal to the principal
amount and held to the stated maturity date

The actual performance of the underlier over the term of your notes, as well as the amount payable at maturity, if any,
may bear little relation to the hypothetical examples shown below or to the historical underlier levels shown elsewhere
in this pricing supplement. For information about the historical levels of the underlier during recent periods, see “The
Underlier—Historical Performance of the Underlier” below. Before investing in the notes, you should consult publicly
available information to determine the levels of the underlier between the date of this pricing supplement and the date
of your purchase of the notes.
Also, the hypothetical examples shown below do not take into account the effects of applicable taxes. Because of the
U.S. tax treatment applicable to your notes, tax liabilities could affect the after-tax rate of return on your notes to a
comparatively greater extent than the after-tax return on the stocks included in the underlier (the “underlier stocks”).
The levels in the left column of the table below represent hypothetical final underlier levels and are expressed as
percentages of the initial underlier level. The amounts in the right column represent the hypothetical cash settlement
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amounts, based on the corresponding hypothetical final underlier level (expressed as a percentage of the initial
underlier level), and are expressed as percentages of the principal amount of a note (rounded to the nearest
one-thousandth of a percent). Thus, a hypothetical cash settlement amount of 100.000% means that the value of the
cash payment that we would deliver for each $1,000 principal amount of the notes at maturity would equal the
principal amount of a note, based on the corresponding hypothetical final underlier level (expressed as a percentage of
the initial underlier level) and the assumptions noted above.

PS-4
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Hypothetical Final Underlier Level
(as a Percentage of the Initial Underlier Level)

Hypothetical Cash Settlement Amount
(as a Percentage of the Principal Amount)

150.00% 123.700%

140.00% 123.700%

130.00% 123.700%

120.00% 123.700%

115.80% 123.700%

110.00% 115.000%

107.00% 110.500%

105.00% 107.500%

100.00% 100.000%

95.00% 100.000%

90.00% 100.000%

80.00% 88.889%

75.00% 83.333%

50.00% 55.556%

25.00% 27.778%

0.00% 0.000%

If, for example, the final underlier level were determined to be 25.00% of the initial underlier level, the cash
settlement amount that we would deliver on your notes at maturity would be approximately 27.778% of the principal
amount of your notes, as shown in the hypothetical cash settlement amount column of the table above. As a result, if
you purchased your notes at the principal amount on the settlement date and held them to maturity, you would lose
approximately 72.222% of your investment.
If the final underlier level were determined to be 150.00% of the initial underlier level, the cash settlement amount
that we would deliver on your notes at maturity would be capped at the maximum settlement amount (expressed as a
percentage of the principal amount), or 123.700% of the principal amount of your notes, as shown in the hypothetical
cash settlement amount column of the table above. As a result, if you purchased your notes at the principal amount on
the settlement date and held them to maturity, you would not benefit from any increase in the final underlier level over
115.80% of the initial underlier level.

PS-5
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The following chart also illustrates the hypothetical cash settlement amounts (expressed as a percentage of the
principal amount of your notes) that we would pay on your notes on the stated maturity date, if the final underlier
level (expressed as a percentage of the initial underlier level) were any of the hypothetical levels shown on the
horizontal axis. The chart shows that any hypothetical final underlier level (expressed as a percentage of the initial
underlier level) of less than the buffer level would result in a hypothetical cash settlement amount of less than
100.00% of the principal amount of your notes (the section below the 100.00% marker on the vertical axis) and,
accordingly, in a loss of principal to the holder of the notes. On the other hand, any hypothetical final underlier level
that is greater than the initial underlier level (the section right of the 100.00% marker on the horizontal axis) would
result in a hypothetical cash settlement amount that is greater than 100.00% of the principal amount of your notes on a
leveraged basis (the section above the 100.00% marker on the vertical axis), subject to the maximum settlement
amount.

n The Note Performance n The Underlier Performance

No one can predict the final underlier level. The actual amount that a holder of the notes will receive at maturity and
the actual return on your investment in the notes, if any, will depend on the actual final underlier level, which will be
determined by the calculation agent as described below. In addition, the actual return on your notes will further
depend on the original issue price. Moreover, the assumptions on which the hypothetical table and chart are based
may turn out to be inaccurate. Consequently, the return on your investment in the notes, if any, and the actual cash
settlement amount to be paid in respect of the notes at maturity may be very different from the information reflected in
the table and chart above.

PS-6
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ADDITIONAL RISK FACTORS SPECIFIC TO YOUR NOTES
An investment in your notes is subject to the risks described below, as well as the risks described under “Risk
Factors” beginning on page S-1 of the accompanying prospectus supplement and page 1 of the accompanying
prospectus. You should carefully review these risks as well as the terms of the notes described herein and in the
accompanying prospectus, dated January 8, 2016, as supplemented by the accompanying prospectus supplement,
dated January 8, 2016, and the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1, dated January 14, 2016, of
Royal Bank of Canada. Your notes are a riskier investment than ordinary debt securities. Also, your notes are not
equivalent to investing directly in the underlier stocks, i.e., the stocks included in the underlier. You should
carefully consider whether the offered notes are suited to your particular circumstances.

You May Lose Your Entire Investment in the Notes
The principal amount of your investment is not protected and you may lose a significant amount, or even all of your
investment in the notes. The cash settlement amount, if any, will depend on the performance of the underlier and the
change in the level of the underlier from the trade date to the determination date, and you may receive significantly
less than the principal amount of the notes. Subject to our credit risk, you will receive at least the principal amount of
the notes at maturity only if the final underlier level is greater than or equal to the buffer level. If the final underlier
level is less than the buffer level, then you will lose, for each $1,000 in principal amount of the notes, an amount equal
to the product of (i) the buffer rate times (ii) the sum of underlier return plus the buffer amount (iii) times $1,000. You
could lose some or all of the principal amount. Thus, depending on the final underlier level, you could lose a
substantial portion, and perhaps all, of your investment in the notes, which would include any premium to the
principal amount you may have paid when you purchased the notes.
In addition, if the notes are not held until maturity, assuming no changes in market conditions or to our
creditworthiness and other relevant factors, the price you may receive for the notes may be significantly less than the
price that you paid for them.
Our Initial Estimated Value of the Notes Is Less than the Original Issue Price
Our initial estimated value that is set forth on the cover page of this document is less than the original issue price of
the notes, and does not represent a minimum price at which we, RBCCM or any of our other affiliates would be
willing to purchase the notes in any secondary market (if any exists) at any time. This is due to, among other things,
the fact that the original issue price of the notes reflects the borrowing rate we pay to issue securities of this kind (an
internal funding rate that is lower than the rate at which we borrow funds by issuing conventional fixed rate debt), and
the inclusion in the original issue price of the costs relating to our hedging of the notes.
The Price, if Any, at Which You May Be Able to Sell Your Notes Prior to Maturity May Be Less than the Original
Issue Price and Our Initial Estimated Value
Assuming no change in market conditions or any other relevant factors, the price, if any, at which you may be able to
sell your notes prior to maturity may be less than the original issue price and our initial estimated value. This is
because any such sale price would not be expected to include our estimated profit and the costs relating to our hedging
of the notes. In addition, any price at which you may sell the notes is likely to reflect customary bid-ask spreads for
similar trades, and the cost of unwinding any related hedge transactions. In addition, the value of the notes determined
for any secondary market price is expected to be based in part on the yield that is reflected in the interest rate on our
conventional debt securities of similar maturity that are traded in the secondary market, rather than the internal
funding rate that we used to price the notes and determine the initial estimated value. As a result, the secondary
market price of the notes will be less than if the internal funding rate was used. These factors, together with various
credit, market and economic factors over the term of the notes, and, potentially, changes in the level of the underlier,
are expected to reduce the price at which you may be able to sell the notes in any secondary market and will affect the
value of the notes in complex and unpredictable ways.
As set forth below in the section “Supplemental Plan of Distribution (Conflicts of Interest),” for a limited period of time
after the original issue date, your broker may repurchase the notes at a price that is greater than the estimated value of
the notes at that time. However, assuming no changes in any other relevant factors, the price you may receive if you
sell your notes is expected to decline gradually during that period.
The notes are not designed to be short-term trading instruments. Accordingly, you should be able and willing to hold
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your notes to maturity.
The Initial Estimated Value of the Notes Is an Estimate Only, Calculated as of the Time the Terms of the Notes Were
Set
Our initial estimated value of the notes is based on the value of our obligation to make the payments on the notes,
together with the mid-market value of the derivative embedded in the terms of the notes. See “Structuring the Notes”
below. Our estimate is based on a variety of assumptions, including our internal funding rate (which represents a
discount from our credit spreads), expectations as to dividends on the underlier stocks, interest rates and volatility, and
the expected term of the notes. These assumptions are based on certain forecasts about future events, which may prove
to be incorrect. Other entities may value the notes or similar securities at a price that is significantly different than we
do.
The value of the notes at any time after the trade date will vary based on many factors, including changes in market
conditions, and cannot be predicted with accuracy. As a result, the actual value you would receive if you sold the
notes in any secondary market, if any, should be expected to differ materially from our initial estimated value of your
notes.

PS-7
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Your Notes Will Not Bear Interest
You will not receive any interest payments on the notes. Even if the amount payable on the notes at maturity exceeds
the principal amount of the notes, the overall return you earn on the notes may be less than you would otherwise have
earned by investing in a non-indexed debt security of comparable maturity that bears interest at a prevailing market
rate. Your investment may not reflect the full opportunity cost to you when you take into account factors that affect
the time value of money.
The Potential for the Value of Your Notes to Increase Will Be Limited
Your ability to participate in any change in the level of the underlier over the term of your notes will be limited
because of the cap level. The cap level will limit the amount in cash you may receive for each of your notes at
maturity, no matter how much the level of the underlier may rise beyond the cap level over the term of your notes.
Accordingly, the amount payable for each of your notes may be significantly less than your return had you invested
directly in the underlier stocks.
Payment of the Amount Payable on Your Notes Is Subject to Our Credit Risk, and Market Perceptions About Our
Creditworthiness May Adversely Affect the Market Value of Your Notes
The notes are our unsecured debt obligations. Investors are subject to our credit risk, and market perceptions about our
creditworthiness may adversely affect the market value of the notes. Any decrease in the market’s view on or
confidence in our creditworthiness is likely to adversely affect the market value of the notes.
The Amount Payable on Your Notes Is Not Linked to the Level of the Underlier at Any Time Other than the
Determination Date
The amount payable on your notes will be based on the final underlier level. Therefore, for example, if the closing
level of the underlier decreased precipitously on the determination date, the amount payable at maturity may be
significantly less than it would otherwise have been had the amount payable been linked to the closing level of the
underlier prior to that decrease. Although the actual level of the underlier at maturity or at other times during the term
of the notes may be higher than the final underlier level, you will not benefit from the closing level of the underlier at
any time other than the determination date.
The Notes May Not Have an Active Trading Market
The notes will not be listed on any securities exchange. The dealer intends to offer to purchase the notes in the
secondary market, but is not required to do so. The dealer or any of its affiliates may stop any market-making
activities at any time. Even if there is a secondary market, it may not provide enough liquidity to allow you to easily
trade or sell the notes. Because other dealers are not likely to make a secondary market for the notes, the price at
which you may be able to trade the notes is likely to depend on the price, if any, at which the dealer is willing to buy
the notes. We expect that transaction costs in any secondary market would be high. As a result, the difference between
bid and asked prices for your notes in any secondary market could be substantial.
If you sell your notes before maturity, you may have to do so at a substantial discount from the price that you paid for
them, and as a result, you may suffer substantial losses.
The Market Value of Your Notes May Be Influenced by Many Unpredictable Factors
The following factors, among others, many of which are beyond our control, may influence the market value of your
notes:
· the level of the underlier;
· the volatility—i.e., the frequency and magnitude of changes—of the level of the underlier;
· the dividend rates of the underlier stocks;

·economic, financial, regulatory, political, military and other events that affect stock markets generally and theunderlier stocks;
· interest and yield rates in the market;

· the time remaining until the notes
mature; and

·our creditworthiness, whether actual or perceived, and including actual or anticipated upgrades or downgrades in ourcredit ratings or changes in other credit measures.
These factors may influence the market value of your notes if you sell your notes before maturity, including the price
you may receive for your notes in any market making transaction. If you sell your notes prior to maturity, you may
receive less than the principal amount of your notes.
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An Investment in the Notes Is Subject to Risks Associated with Foreign Securities Markets
The underlier tracks the value of certain foreign equity securities. The underlier consists of twenty-one developed
equity market country indices, which are in turn comprised of the stocks traded in the equity markets of such
countries. You should be aware that investments in securities linked to the value of foreign equity securities involve
particular risks. The foreign securities markets comprising the underlier may have less liquidity and may be more
volatile than U.S. or other securities markets and market developments may affect foreign markets differently from
U.S. or other securities markets. Direct or indirect government intervention to stabilize these foreign securities
markets, as well as cross-shareholdings in foreign companies, may affect trading prices and volumes in these markets.
Also, there is generally less publicly available information about foreign companies than about those U.S. companies
that are subject to the reporting requirements of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and foreign companies
are subject to accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards and requirements that differ from those applicable
to U.S. reporting companies.

PS-8
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Prices of securities in foreign countries are subject to political, economic, financial and social factors that apply in
those geographical regions. These factors, which could negatively affect those securities markets, include the
possibility of recent or future changes in a foreign government’s economic and fiscal policies, the possible imposition
of, or changes in, currency exchange laws or other laws or restrictions applicable to foreign companies or investments
in foreign equity securities and the possibility of fluctuations in the rate of exchange between currencies, the
possibility of outbreaks of hostility and political instability and the possibility of natural disaster or adverse public
health development in the region. Moreover, foreign economies may differ favorably or unfavorably from the U.S.
economy in important respects such as growth of gross national product, rate of inflation, capital reinvestment,
resources and self-sufficiency.
The Notes Are Linked to the Index, and Are Therefore Subject to Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
The payment amount on the notes will be calculated based on the underlier, and the prices of the underlier stocks are
converted into U.S. dollars for purposes of calculating the level of the underlier. As a result, investors in the notes will
be exposed to currency exchange rate risk with respect to each of the currencies represented by the underlier. An
investor’s net exposure will depend on the extent to which the currencies represented by the underlier strengthen or
weaken against the U.S. dollar and the relative weight of each relevant currency represented by the underlier. If,
taking into account such weight, the dollar strengthens against such currencies, the level of the underlier will be
adversely affected and the amount payable, if any, at maturity of the notes may be reduced.
Foreign currency exchange rates vary over time, and may vary considerably during the life of the notes. Changes in a
particular exchange rate result from the interaction of many factors directly or indirectly affecting economic and
political conditions.
Of particular importance are:
·existing and expected rates of inflation;
·existing and expected interest rate levels;
· the balance of payments;
· the extent of governmental surpluses or deficits in the relevant countries; and
·other financial, economic, military and political factors.
All of these factors are, in turn, sensitive to the monetary, fiscal and trade policies pursued by the governments of the
various component countries and the United States and other countries important to international trade and finance.
It has been reported that the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority and regulators from other countries are in the process
of investigating the potential manipulation of published currency exchange rates. If such manipulation has occurred or
is continuing, certain published exchange rates may have been, or may be in the future, artificially lower (or higher)
than they would otherwise have been. Any such manipulation could have an adverse impact on any payments on, and
the value of, your notes and the trading market for your notes. In addition, we cannot predict whether any changes or
reforms affecting the determination or publication of exchange rates or the supervision of currency trading will be
implemented in connection with these investigations. Any such changes or reforms could also adversely impact your
notes.
If the Level or Price of the Underlier or the Underlier Stocks Changes, the Market Value of the Notes May Not
Change in the Same Manner
The notes may trade quite differently from the performance of the underlier or the underlier stocks. Changes in the
level or price, as applicable, of the underlier or the underlier stocks may not result in a comparable change in the
market value of the notes. Some of the reasons for this disparity are discussed under “—The Market Value of Your Notes
May Be Influenced by Many Unpredictable Factors” above.
The Return on the Notes Will Not Reflect Any Dividends Paid on the Underlier Stocks
The underlier sponsor calculates the levels of the underlier by reference to the prices of the underlier stocks without
taking account of the value of dividends paid on those underlier stocks. Therefore, the return on the notes will not
reflect the return you would realize if you actually owned the underlier stocks and received the dividends paid on
those underlier stocks.
You Have No Shareholder Rights or Rights to Receive Any Underlier Stock
Investing in your notes will not make you a holder of any of the underlier stocks. Neither you nor any other holder or
owner of your notes will have any voting rights, any right to receive dividends or other distributions, any rights to
make a claim against the underlier stock issuers or any other rights with respect to the underlier stocks. Your notes
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will be paid in cash to the extent any amount is payable at maturity, and you will have no right to receive delivery of
any of the underlier stocks.
We Will Not Hold Any of the Underlier Stocks for Your Benefit, if We Hold Them at All
The indenture and the terms governing your notes do not contain any restriction on our ability or the ability of any of
our affiliates to sell, pledge or otherwise convey all or any portion of the underlier stocks that we or they may acquire.
Neither we nor our affiliates will pledge or otherwise hold any assets for your benefit, including any of these
securities. Consequently, in the event of our bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation, any of those securities that we own
will be subject to the claims of our creditors generally and will not be available for your benefit specifically.
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Our Hedging Activities and/or Those of Our Distributors May Negatively Impact Investors in the Notes and Cause
Our Interests and Those of Our Clients and Counterparties to Be Contrary to Those of Investors in the Notes
The dealer or one or more of our other affiliates and/or distributors has hedged or expects to hedge its obligations
under the hedging transaction that it may enter into with us by purchasing futures and/or other instruments linked to
the underlier or the underlier stocks. The dealer or one or more of our other affiliates and/or distributors also expects
to adjust the hedge by, among other things, purchasing or selling any of the foregoing, and perhaps other instruments
linked to the underlier or one or more of the underlier stocks, at any time and from time to time, and to unwind the
hedge by selling any of the foregoing on or before the determination date.
We, the dealer, or one or more of our other affiliates and/or distributors may also enter into, adjust and unwind
hedging transactions relating to other basket- or index-linked notes whose returns are linked to changes in the level or
price of the underlier or the underlier stocks. Any of these hedging activities may adversely affect the level of the
underlier—directly or indirectly by affecting the price of the underlier stocks—and therefore the market value of the notes
and the amount you will receive, if any, on the notes. In addition, you should expect that these transactions will cause
us, the dealer or our other affiliates and/or distributors, or our clients or counterparties, to have economic interests and
incentives that do not align with, and that may be directly contrary to, those of an investor in the notes. We, the dealer
and our other affiliates and/or distributors will have no obligation to take, refrain from taking or cease taking any
action with respect to these transactions based on the potential effect on an investor in the notes, and may receive
substantial returns with respect to these hedging activities while the value of the notes may decline. Additionally, if
the distributor from which you purchase notes is to conduct hedging activities for us in connection with the notes, that
distributor may profit in connection with such hedging activities and such profit, if any, will be in addition to the
compensation that the distributor receives for the sale of the notes to you. You should be aware that the potential to
earn fees in connection with hedging activities may create a further incentive for the distributor to sell the notes to you
in addition to the compensation they would receive for the sale of the notes.
Market Activities by Us and by the Dealer for Our Own Account or for Our Clients Could Negatively Impact
Investors in the Notes
We, the dealer and our other affiliates provide a wide range of financial services to a substantial and diversified client
base. As such, we each may act as an investor, investment banker, research provider, investment manager, investment
advisor, market maker, trader, prime broker or lender. In those and other capacities, we, the dealer and/or our other
affiliates purchase, sell or hold a broad array of investments, actively trade securities (including the notes or other
securities that we have issued), the underlier stocks, derivatives, loans, credit default swaps, indices, baskets and other
financial instruments and products for our own accounts or for the accounts of our customers, and we will have other
direct or indirect interests, in those securities and in other markets that may be not be consistent with your interests
and may adversely affect the level of the underlier and/or the value of the notes. Any of these financial market
activities may, individually or in the aggregate, have an adverse effect on the level of the underlier and the market
value of your notes, and you should expect that our interests and those of the dealer and/or our other affiliates, or our
clients or counterparties, will at times be adverse to those of investors in the notes.
In addition to entering into these transactions itself, we, the dealer and our other affiliates may structure these
transactions for our clients or counterparties, or otherwise advise or assist clients or counterparties in entering into
these transactions. These activities may be undertaken to achieve a variety of objectives, including: permitting other
purchasers of the notes or other securities to hedge their investment in whole or in part; facilitating transactions for
other clients or counterparties that may have business objectives or investment strategies that are inconsistent with or
contrary to those of investors in the notes; hedging the exposure of us, the dealer or our other affiliates in connection
with the notes, through their market-making activities, as a swap counterparty or otherwise; enabling us, the dealer or
our other affiliates to comply with internal risk limits or otherwise manage firmwide, business unit or product risk;
and/or enabling us, the dealer or our other affiliates to take directional views as to relevant markets on behalf of itself
or our clients or counterparties that are inconsistent with or contrary to the views and objectives of investors in the
notes.
We, the dealer and our other affiliates regularly offer a wide array of securities, financial instruments and other
products into the marketplace, including existing or new products that are similar to the notes or other securities that
we may issue, the underlier stocks or other securities or instruments similar to or linked to the foregoing. Investors in
the notes should expect that we, the dealer and our other affiliates will offer securities, financial instruments, and other
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products that may compete with the notes for liquidity or otherwise.
We, the Dealer and Our Other Affiliates Regularly Provide Services to, or Otherwise Have Business Relationships
with, a Broad Client Base, Which Has Included and May Include Us and the Issuers of the Underlier Stocks
We, the dealer and our other affiliates regularly provide financial advisory, investment advisory and transactional
services to a substantial and diversified client base. You should assume that we or they will, at present or in the future,
provide such services or otherwise engage in transactions with, among others, us and the issuers of the underlier
stocks, or transact in securities or instruments or with parties that are directly or indirectly related to these entities.
These services could include making loans to or equity investments in those companies, providing financial advisory
or other investment banking services, or issuing research reports. You should expect that we, the dealer and our other
affiliates, in providing these services, engaging in such transactions, or acting for our own accounts, may take actions
that have direct or indirect effects on the notes or other securities that we may issue, the underlier stocks or other
securities or instruments similar to or linked to the foregoing, and that such actions could be adverse to the interests of
investors in the notes. In addition, in connection with these activities, certain personnel within us, the dealer or our
other affiliates may have access to confidential material non-public information about these parties that would not be
disclosed to investors of the notes.
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Past Underlier Performance Is No Guide to Future Performance
The actual performance of the underlier over the term of the notes may bear little relation to the historical levels of the
underlier. Likewise, the amount payable at maturity may bear little relationship to the hypothetical return table or
chart set forth elsewhere in this pricing supplement. We cannot predict the future performance of the underlier.
Trading activities undertaken by market participants, including certain investors in the notes or their affiliates,
including in short positions and derivative positions, may adversely affect the level of the underlier.
As the Calculation Agent, RBCCM Will Have the Authority to Make Determinations that Could Affect the Amount
You Receive, if Any, at Maturity
As the calculation agent for the notes, RBCCM will have discretion in making various determinations that affect the
notes, including determining the final underlier level, which will be used to determine the cash settlement amount at
maturity, and determining whether to postpone the determination date because of a market disruption event or because
that day is not a trading day. The calculation agent also has discretion in making certain adjustments relating to a
discontinuation or modification of the underlier, as described under “General Terms of the Notes—Unavailability of the
Level of the Underlier” beginning on page PS-6 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1. The
exercise of this discretion by RBCCM, which is our wholly owned subsidiary, could adversely affect the value of the
notes and may create a conflict of interest between you and RBCCM. For a description of market disruption events as
well as the consequences of the market disruption events, see the section entitled “General Terms of the Notes—Market
Disruption Events” beginning on page PS-7 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1. We may
change the calculation agent at any time without notice, and RBCCM may resign as calculation agent at any time.
The Policies of the Underlier Sponsor and Changes that Affect the Underlier or the Underlier Stocks Could Affect the
Amount Payable on the Notes, if Any, and Their Market Value
The policies of the underlier sponsor concerning the calculation of the levels of the underlier, additions, deletions or
substitutions of the underlier stocks and the manner in which changes affecting such underlier stocks or their issuers,
such as stock dividends, reorganizations or mergers, are reflected in the level of the underlier, could affect the levels
of the underlier and, therefore, the amount payable on the notes, if any, at maturity and the market value of the notes
prior to maturity. The amount payable on the notes, if any, and their market value could also be affected if the
underlier sponsor changes these policies, for example, by changing the manner in which it calculates the level of the
underlier, or if the underlier sponsor discontinues or suspends calculation or publication of the level of the underlier,
in which case it may become difficult to determine the market value of the notes. If events such as these occur, the
calculation agent will determine the amount payable, if any, at maturity as described herein.
The Calculation Agent Can Postpone the Determination of the Final Underlier Level if a Market Disruption Event
Occurs or Is Continuing
The determination of the final level may be postponed if the calculation agent determines that a market disruption
event has occurred or is continuing on the determination date with respect to the underlier. If such a postponement
occurs, the calculation agent will use the closing level of the underlier on the first subsequent trading day on which no
market disruption event occurs or is continuing, subject to the limitations set forth in the accompanying product
prospectus supplement PB-1. If a market disruption event occurs or is continuing on a determination date, the stated
maturity date for the notes could also be postponed.
If the determination of the level of the underlier for any determination date is postponed to the last possible day, but a
market disruption event occurs or is continuing on that day, that day will nevertheless be the date on which the level
of the underlier will be determined by the calculation agent. In such an event, the calculation agent will make a good
faith estimate in its sole discretion of the level that would have prevailed in the absence of the market disruption event.
See “General Terms of the Notes—Market Disruption Events” in the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1.
There Is No Affiliation Between Any Underlier Stock Issuers or the Underlier Sponsor and Us or the Dealer, and
Neither We Nor the Dealer Is Responsible for Any Disclosure by Any of the Underlier Stock Issuers or the Underlier
Sponsor
We are not affiliated with the issuers of the underlier stocks or with the underlier sponsor. As discussed herein,
however, we, the dealer, and our other affiliates may currently, or from time to time in the future, engage in business
with the issuers of the underlier stocks. Nevertheless, none of us, the dealer, or our respective affiliates assumes any
responsibility for the accuracy or the completeness of any information about the underlier or any of the underlier
stocks. You, as an investor in the notes, should make your own investigation into the underlier and the underlier
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stocks. See the section below entitled “The Underlier” for additional information about the underlier.
Neither the underlier sponsor nor any issuers of the underlier stocks are involved in this offering of the notes in any
way, and none of them have any obligation of any sort with respect to the notes. Thus, neither the underlier sponsor
nor any of the issuers of the underlier stocks have any obligation to take your interests into consideration for any
reason, including in taking any corporate actions that might affect the value of the notes.
You Must Rely on Your Own Evaluation of the Merits of an Investment Linked to the Underlier
In the ordinary course of business, we, the dealer, our other affiliates and any additional dealers, including in acting as
a research provider, investment advisor, market maker, principal investor or distributor, may express research or
investment views on expected movements in the underlier or the underlier stocks, and may do so in the future. These
views or reports may be communicated to our clients, clients of our affiliates and clients of any additional dealers, and
may be inconsistent with, or adverse to, the objectives of investors in the notes. However, these views are subject to
change from time to time. Moreover, other professionals who transact business in markets relating to the underlier or
the underlier stocks may at any time have significantly different views from those of these entities. For these reasons,
you are encouraged to derive
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information concerning the underlier or the underlier stocks from multiple sources, and you should not rely solely on
views expressed by us, the dealer, our other affiliates, or any additional dealers.
We May Sell an Additional Aggregate Amount of the Notes at a Different Original Issue Price
At our sole option, we may decide to sell an additional aggregate amount of the notes subsequent to the trade date.
The price of the notes in the subsequent sale may differ substantially (higher or lower) from the principal amount.
If the Original Issue Price for Your Notes Represents a Premium to the Principal Amount, the Return on Your Notes
Will Be Lower Than the Return on Notes for Which the Original Issue Price Is Equal to the Principal Amount or
Represents a Discount to the Principal Amount
The cash settlement amount will not be adjusted based on the original issue price. If the original issue price for your
notes differs from the principal amount, the return on your notes held to maturity will differ from, and may be
substantially less than, the return on notes for which the original issue price is equal to the principal amount. If the
original issue price for your notes represents a premium to the principal amount and you hold them to maturity, the
return on your notes will be lower than the return on notes for which the original issue price is equal to the principal
amount or represents a discount to the principal amount.
In addition, the impact of the buffer level and the cap level on the return on your investment will depend upon the
price you pay for your notes relative to the principal amount. For example, if you purchase your notes at a premium to
the principal amount, the cap level will only permit a lower percentage increase in your investment in the notes than
would have been the case for notes purchased at the principal amount or a discount to the principal amount. Similarly,
the buffer level, while still providing some protection for the return on the notes, will allow a greater percentage
decrease in your investment in the notes than would have been the case for notes purchased at the principal amount or
a discount to the principal amount.
Significant Aspects of the Income Tax Treatment of an Investment in the Notes Are Uncertain
The tax treatment of an investment in the notes is uncertain. We do not plan to request a ruling from the Internal
Revenue Service or the Canada Revenue Agency regarding the tax treatment of an investment in the notes, and the
Internal Revenue Service, the Canada Revenue Agency or a court may not agree with the tax treatment described in
this pricing supplement.
The Internal Revenue Service has issued a notice indicating that it and the U.S. Treasury Department are actively
considering whether, among other issues, a holder should be required to accrue interest over the term of an instrument
such as the notes even though that holder will not receive any payments with respect to the notes until maturity or
earlier sale or exchange and whether all or part of the gain a holder may recognize upon sale, exchange or maturity of
an instrument such as the notes could be treated as ordinary income. The outcome of this process is uncertain and
could apply on a retroactive basis.
Please read carefully the section entitled “Supplemental Discussion of U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences” in the
accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1, the section entitled “Certain Income Tax Consequences” in the
accompanying prospectus supplement and the section entitled “Tax Consequences” in the accompanying prospectus.
You should consult your tax advisor about your own tax situation.
Non-U.S. Investors May Be Subject to Certain Additional Risks
The notes will be denominated in U.S. dollars. If you are a non-U.S. investor who purchases the notes with a currency
other than U.S. dollars, changes in rates of exchange may have an adverse effect on the value, price or returns of your
investment.
This pricing supplement contains a general description of certain U.S. tax considerations relating to the notes. If you
are a non-U.S. investor, you should consult your tax advisors as to the consequences, under the tax laws of the country
where you are resident for tax purposes, of acquiring, holding and disposing of the notes and receiving the payments
that might be due under the notes.
For a discussion of certain Canadian federal income tax consequences of investing in the notes, please see the section
entitled “Tax Consequences—Canadian Taxation” in the accompanying prospectus. If you are not a Non-resident Holder
(as that term is defined in “Tax Consequences—Canadian Taxation” in the accompanying prospectus) or if you acquire the
notes in the secondary market, you should consult your tax advisor as to the consequences of acquiring, holding and
disposing of the notes and receiving the payments that might be due under the notes.
Certain Considerations for Insurance Companies and Employee Benefit Plans
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Any insurance company or fiduciary of a pension plan or other employee benefit plan that is subject to the prohibited
transaction rules of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), or the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Internal Revenue Code”), including an IRA or a Keogh plan (or a
governmental plan to which similar prohibitions apply), and that is considering purchasing the notes with the assets of
the insurance company or the assets of such a plan, should consult with its counsel regarding whether the purchase or
holding of the notes could become a “prohibited transaction” under ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code or any
substantially similar prohibition in light of the representations a purchaser or holder in any of the above categories is
deemed to make by purchasing and holding the notes. This is discussed in more detail under “Employee Retirement
Income Security Act” in the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1.
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THE UNDERLIER
General
The underlier is the MSCI EAFE® Index (Bloomberg ticker “MXEA”). All information contained in this pricing
supplement regarding the underlier including, without limitation, its make-up, method of calculation and changes in
its components and its historical closing values, is derived from publicly available information prepared by the
underlier sponsor. Such information reflects the policies of, and is subject to change by, the underlier sponsor. The
underlier sponsor owns the copyright and all rights to the underlier. The underlier sponsor is under no obligation to
continue to publish, and may discontinue publication of, the underlier. The consequences of the underlier sponsor
discontinuing or modifying the underlier are described in the section entitled “Description of the Notes—Unavailability of
the Level of the Underlier” beginning on page PS-6 of the accompanying product prospectus supplement PB-1.
The underlier is calculated and maintained by the underlier sponsor. Neither we nor RBCCM has participated in the
preparation of such documents or made any due diligence inquiry with respect to the underlier or underlier sponsor in
connection with the offering of the notes. In connection with the offering of the notes, neither we nor RBCCM makes
any representation that such publicly available information regarding the underlier or underlier sponsor is accurate or
complete. Furthermore, we cannot give any assurance that all events occurring prior to the offering of the notes
(including events that would affect the accuracy or completeness of the publicly available information described in
this pricing supplement) that would affect the level of the underlier or have been publicly disclosed. Subsequent
disclosure of any such events could affect the value received at maturity and therefore the market value of the notes.
We, the dealer or our respective affiliates may presently or from time to time engage in business with one or more of
the issuers of the underlier stocks of the underlier without regard to your interests, including extending loans to or
entering into loans with, or making equity investments in, one or more of such issuers or providing advisory services
to one or more of such issuers, such as merger and acquisition advisory services. In the course of business, we, the
dealer or our respective affiliates may acquire non-public information about one or more of such issuers and none of
us, the dealer or our respective affiliates undertake to disclose any such information to you. In addition, we, the dealer
or our respective affiliates from time to time have published and in the future may publish research reports with
respect to such issuers. These research reports may or may not recommend that investors buy or hold the securities of
such issuers. As a prospective purchaser of the notes, you should undertake an independent investigation of the
underlier or of the issuers of the underlier stocks to the extent required, in your judgment, to allow you to make an
informed decision with respect to an investment in the notes.
We are not incorporating by reference the website of the underlier sponsor or any material it includes into this pricing
supplement. In this pricing supplement, unless the context requires otherwise, references to the underlier will include
any successor underlier to the underlier and references to the underlier sponsor will include any successor thereto.
Description of the Underlier
The MSCI EAFE® Index
The underlier is intended to measure equity market performance in developed market countries, excluding the United
States and Canada. The underlier is a free float-adjusted market capitalization equity index with a base date of
December 31, 1969 and an initial value of 100. The underlier is calculated daily in U.S. dollars and published in real
time every 60 seconds during market trading hours. As of January 31, 2017, the underlier  consisted of companies
from the following 21 developed countries: Australia, Austria, Belgium, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Hong
Kong, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Singapore, Spain, Sweden,
Switzerland and United Kingdom.
The underlier is comprised of companies in both the Large Cap Index and Mid Cap Index, as discussed in the section
“—Defining Market Capitalization Size Segments for Each Market” below.
The underlier is part of the MSCI Regional Equity Indices series and is an MSCI Global Investable Market Index,
which is a family within the MSCI International Equity Indices.
Constructing the MSCI Global Investable Market Indices. MSCI undertakes an index construction process, which
involves:
• defining the equity universe;
• determining the market investable equity universe for each market;
• determining market capitalization size segments for each market;
• applying index continuity rules for the MSCI Standard Index;
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• creating style segments within each size segment within each market; and
• classifying securities under the Global Industry Classification Standard (the “GICS”).
Defining the Equity Universe. The equity universe is defined by:
• Identifying Eligible Equity Securities: the equity universe initially looks at securities listed in any of the countries in
the MSCI Global Index Series, which will be classified as either Developed Markets (“DM”) or Emerging Markets
(“EM”). All listed equity securities, including Real Estate Investment Trusts and certain income trusts in
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Canada, are eligible for inclusion in the equity universe.  Conversely, mutual funds, ETFs, equity derivatives and most
investment trusts, are not eligible for inclusion in the equity universe.
• Classifying Eligible Securities into the Appropriate Country: each company and its securities (i.e., sharTH="15%"
VALIGN="BOTTOM">  

     On October 26, 2005, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company's management, at its discretion,
to repurchase up to $75 million in additional shares over the next three-year period. As of December 31, 2008, the
Company repurchased 1,307,598 shares under this program at an average price of approximately $57.36 per share.
This program was completed in February 2008.

     On October 24, 2007, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company's management to repurchase, at
its discretion, up to $75 million of additional shares over the next two-year period. As of December 31, 2008, 615,674
shares have been purchased under this program at an average price of approximately $61.45 per share.

12

     On January 28, 2009, the Company's Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly dividend on its common stock
of $0.05 per share. No dividend will be payable unless declared by the Board and unless funds are legally available for
payment thereof.

     On February 6, 2009, the last reported sales price on the NYSE was $37.66 per share. As of February 6, 2009,
there were approximately 194 holders of record of the common stock.

     The following graph compares the cumulative 5-year total return provided shareholders on Minerals Technologies
Inc.'s common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 index and the S&P MidCap 400 Materials
Sector index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in our
common stock and in each of the indices on 12/31/2003 and its relative performance is tracked through 12/31/2008.
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     The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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     The following graph compares the cumulative 2-year total return provided shareholders of Minerals Technologies
Inc.'s common stock relative to the cumulative total returns of the S & P 500 index and the S&P MidCap 400
Materials Sector index. An investment of $100 (with reinvestment of all dividends) is assumed to have been made in
our common stock and in each of the indices on 12/31/2006 and its relative performance is tracked through 12/31/08.

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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Item 6.   Selected Financial Data

Dollars in Millions, Except Per Share Data
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Income Statement Data: 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Net sales $1,112.2 $1,077.7 $1,023.5 $ 956.8 $ 889.7
Cost of goods sold 891.7 845.1 798.7 744.0 676.3

Production margin 220.5 232.6 224.8 212.8 213.4

Marketing and administrative expenses 101.8 104.6 104.6 98.1 93.0
Research and development expenses 23.1 26.3 27.8 27.0 26.9
Impairment of assets 0.2 94.1 -- 0.3 --
Restructuring and other costs 13.4 16.0 -- -- 1.1
Acquisition termination costs -- -- -- -- 1.0

Income (loss) from operations 82.0 (8.5) 92.4 87.4 91.4

Non-operating income (deductions), net 0.3 (3.0) (5.9) (3.9) (4.5)

Income (loss) before provision for taxes

82.3 (11.5) 86.5 83.5 86.9

on income, minority
interests and
discontinued operations

Provision for taxes on income 24.1 11.3 27.0 25.1 25.1
Minority interests 3.2 2.9 3.4 1.7 1.7

Income (loss) from continuing
operations 55.0 (25.7) 56.1 56.7 60.1
Income (loss) from discontinued
operations, net of tax 10.3 (37.8) (6.1) (3.4) (1.5)

Net income (loss) $ 65.3 $(63.5) $ 50.0 $ 53.3 $ 58.6

Earnings Per Share

Basic:
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations $ 2.91 $(1.34) $ 2.86 $2.78 $ 2.93
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued
operations 0.54 (1.97) (0.31) (0.16) (0.08)

     Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 3.45 $(3.31) $ 2.55 $2.62 $ 2.85

Diluted:
Earnings (loss) per share from continuing
operations $ 2.90 $(1.34) $ 2.84 $2.75 $ 2.89
Earnings (loss) per share from discontinued
operations 0.54 (1.97) (0.31) (0.16) (0.07)

     Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 3.44 $(3.31) $ 2.53 $2.59 $ 2.82
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding:
       Basic 18,893 19,190 19,60020,345 20,530
       Diluted 18,983 19,190 19,73820,567 20,769
Dividends declared per common share $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $ 0.20 $0.20 $ 0.20

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $380.7 $306.2 $ 199.7 $145.9 $ 242.8
Total assets 1,067.6 1,128.9 1,193.11,156.3 1,154.9
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Long-term debt 97.2 111.0 113.4 40.3 94.8
Total debt 116.2 127.7 203.1 156.9 128.7
Total shareholders' equity 711.6 751.2 752.6 771.2 799.3
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Item 7.   Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Income and Expense Items as a Percentage of Net Sales

Year Ended December 31, 2008 2007 2006

Net sales 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %

Cost of goods sold 80.2 78.4 78.1 

Production margin 19.8 21.6 21.9

Marketing and administrative expenses 9.1 9.7 10.2 
Research and development expenses 2.1 2.4 2.7 
Impairment of assets -- 8.8 -- 
Restructuring charges 1.2 1.5 -- 

Income (loss) from operations 7.4 (0.8) 9.0 

Income (loss) before provision for taxes on income,

minority interests and
discontinued operations 7.4 (1.1) 8.5 

Provision for taxes on income 2.2 1.0 2.7 

Minority interests 0.3 0.3 0.3 

Income (loss) from continuing operations 4.9 (2.4) 5.5 

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 1.0 (3.5) (0.6)

Net income (loss) 5.9 % (5.9) % 4.9 %

Executive Summary

     The Company reported earnings per share of $3.44 in 2008, the highest in its history, as compared with a loss of
$3.31 per share in 2007 when the Company initiated a major restructuring program. During the first three quarters of
2008, the Company achieved an excellent earnings performance due to the realization of savings from the
restructuring program undertaken in 2007, increased selling prices to mitigate the effect of escalating raw materials
and energy costs, the favorable effect of foreign exchange and manufacturing cost savings. In the fourth quarter of
2008, however, the precipitous downturn in the steel, paper, construction and automotive end markets resulted in a
significant drop in demand for the Company's products. As a result, earnings per share for the fourth quarter decreased
64 percent from the fourth quarter of 2007 and 69 percent from the third quarter of 2008.

     In response to the downturn in business activity, the Company established incremental procedures to generate and
conserve its cash and reduce costs by suspending its stock buyback program, curtailing production through shortened
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work weeks, and by continuing its intensive expense control and procurement initiatives. In addition, the Company
reallocated its asset portfolio in its pension plan to preserve capital and reduce exposure to market risk. The Company
also implemented an additional restructuring program to reduce its workforce by approximately 14% through both
layoffs and permanent reductions. Severance related costs associated with this workforce reduction were
approximately $3.9 million.

     Worldwide net sales for 2008 were $1.112 billion, a three-percent increase over 2007 sales of $1.078 billion.
Foreign exchange had a favorable impact on sales of $25 million, or 2 percentage points of growth. Income from
operations were $82.0 million in 2008 as compared with a loss of $8.5 million in the prior year. Included in income
from operations in 2008 were restructuring and impairment charges of $13.6 million. Included in the operating loss of
the prior year were restructuring costs of $16.0 million and impairment of assets charges of $94.1 million.

    Income from continuing operations was $55.0 million as compared with a loss of $25.7 million in the prior year due
to the restructuring charges. Income from discontinued operations was $10.3 million in 2008, due primarily to gains
from the sale of four idle facilities previously written down. In 2007, we had a loss from discontinued operations of
$37.8 million primarily due to restructuring and impairment charges. Net income was $65.3 million as compared with
a loss of $63.5 million in the prior year.

     The Company's balance sheet at December 31, 2008 continues to be very strong. Cash, cash equivalents and
short-term investments at December 31, 2008 was over $190 million. In addition, we have available lines of credit of
$156 million, our debt to equity ratio was very low at 14%, and our current ratio was 3.5. Our cashflows from
operations were in excess of $134 million in 2008.
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    We are facing unprecedented uncertainty in the economic environment as a result of the global financial crisis.
However, as a result of the initiatives we undertook in 2007 to restructure and realign our business, and due to our
strong balance sheet, the Company believes it is in a strong position to manage through these difficult and uncertain
times.

     However, we face some significant risks and challenges in the future:

 &#8226 Our global business could continue to be adversely affected by decreases in economic activity. U.S. steel
production is at its lowest levels since the mid 1980's at 1.2 million tons per week. Housing starts are at
24 year lows with the December 2008 annualized rate at 550,000 units and the full year 2008 rate at
900,000 units, as compared to 2.1 million units in 2005. In the automotive industry, light vehicle sales
were down 18% in 2008 and 35% in the fourth quarter of 2008. In the Paper industry, production levels
within the North American and European uncoated freesheet markets, our most significant market areas,
continued to contract to adjust to reduced demand.

 &#8226 The ongoing tightening of credit in the financial markets could adversely affect the ability of our
customers or our suppliers to obtain financing.

 &#8226 The uncertainty in the global economy may also continue to impact our pension costs. Changes in the fair
market value of our pension assets, rates of return on assets, and discount rates could have a significant
impact on our net periodic pension costs and well as our funding requirements.
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 &#8226 Our success depends in part on the performance of the industries we serve, particularly paper, steel,
construction and automotive. Some of our customers may experience further consolidations and
shutdowns or may face increased liquidity issues, which could deteriorate the aging of our accounts
receivable, increase our bad debt exposure and possibly trigger impairment of assets.

 &#8226 Consolidations in the paper and steel industries concentrate purchasing power in the hands of fewer
customers, increasing pricing pressure on suppliers such as Minerals Technologies Inc.

 &#8226 Most of our Paper PCC sales are subject to long-term contracts that may be terminated pursuant to their
terms, or may be renewed on terms less favorable to us.

 &#8226 Our filler-fiber composite technology continues in development through customer trials, but has yet to be
proven on a long-term commercial scale.

 &#8226 We are subject to volatility in pricing and supply availability of our key raw materials used in our Paper
PCC product line and Refractory product line. Our ability to recover increased costs is uncertain and may
become more difficult in this economic environment.

 &#8226 We continue to rely on China for the majority of our supply of magnesium oxide in the Refractories
segment and may be subject to uncertainty in availability and cost.

 &#8226 The performance of our Processed Minerals and Specialty PCC product lines are subject to fluctuations in
energy costs.

 &#8226 As we expand our operations abroad we face the inherent risks of doing business in many foreign
countries, including foreign exchange risk, import and export restrictions, and security concerns.

     During the third quarter of 2008, Katahdin Paper Company shut down indefinitely one of its paper machines in
Millinocket, Maine, due to increased energy costs. The Company's satellite PCC facility has also shutdown
indefinitely in conjunction with the paper machine shut down. Katahdin Paper Company is currently evaluating the
possibility of installing a biomass boiler. If the Millinocket mill does not resume operations, the Company would incur
an impairment of assets charge of approximately $7.0 million.

     The Company will continue to focus on innovation and new product development and other opportunities for
continued growth as follows:

 &#8226 Development of the filler-fiber composite program, which continues to undergo large-scale paper
machine trials, to increase the fill-rate for uncoated freesheet paper.

 &#8226 Increasing our sales of PCC for paper by further penetration of the markets for paper filling at both
freesheet and groundwood mills, particularly in emerging markets.

 &#8226 Further expansion of the Company's PCC coating product line using the satellite model.

 &#8226 Leverage the Company's expertise in crystal engineering, especially in helping papermakers customize
PCC morphologies for specific paper applications.

 &#8226 Development of unique calcium carbonates used in the manufacture of novel biopolymers, a new market
opportunity.

 &#8226 Rapid deployment of value-added formulations of refractory materials that not only reduce costs but
improve performance.

 &#8226 Continuing our penetration in emerging markets through our manufacturing facilities in China and
Turkey, both within the Refractories segment.
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     However, there can be no assurance that we will achieve success in implementing any one or more of these
opportunities.

Results of Operations

Sales

(Dollars in millions)

Net Sales 2008

% of
Total
Sales Growth 2007

% of
Total
Sales Growth 2006

% of
Total
Sales

U.S. $ 587.5 52.8 % 1 % $ 581.9 54.0 % (2) % $ 592.6 57.9 %

International 524.7 47.2 % 6 % 495.8 46.0 % 15 % 430.9 42.1 %

Net sales $ 1,112.2 100.0 % 3 % $ 1,077.7 100.0 % 5 % $ 1,023.5 100.0 %

Paper PCC $ 547.2 49.2 % 1 % $ 542.0 50.3 % 8 % $ 500.6 48.9 %

Specialty PCC 58.5 5.3 % (3) % 60.6 5.6 % 7 % 56.4 5.5 %

PCC Products $ 605.7 54.5 % 1 % $ 602.6 55.9 % 8 % $ 557.0 54.4 %

Talc $ 35.9 3.2 % (4) % $ 37.3 3.5 % (4) % $ 38.9 3.8 %

GCC 74.8 6.7 % (2) % 76.7 7.1 % (4) % 79.7 7.8 %

Processed Minerals
Products

$ 110.7 9.9 % (3) % $ 114.0 10.6 % (4) % $ 118.6 11.6 %

Specialty Minerals
Segment

$ 716.4 64.4 % -- % $ 716.6 66.5 % 6 % $ 675.6 66.0 %

Refractory Products $ 320.8 28.9 % 10 % $ 290.5 27.0 % 10 % $ 264.6 25.9 %

Metallurgical Products 75.0 6.7 % 6 % 70.6 6.5 % (15) % 83.3 8.1 %

Refractories
Segment

$ 395.8 35.6 % 10 % $ 361.1 33.5 % 4 % $ 347.9 34.0 %

Net sales $ 1,112.2 100.0 % 3 % $ 1,077.7 100.0 % 5 % $ 1,023.5 100.0 %

     Worldwide net sales in 2008 increased 3% from the previous year to $1.112 billion. Foreign exchange had a
favorable impact on sales of $25.0 million or 2 percentage points of growth. Sales in the Specialty Minerals segment,
which includes the PCC and Processed Minerals product lines, decreased slightly to $716.4 million compared with
$716.6 million for the same period in 2007. Sales in the Refractories segment grew 10% over the previous year to
$395.8 million. In 2007, worldwide net sales increased 5% to $1.078 billion from $1.024 billion in the prior year.
Specialty Minerals segment sales increased approximately 6% and Refractories segment sales increased
approximately 4% in 2007.

     Worldwide net sales of PCC, which is primarily used in the manufacturing process of the paper industry, increased
1% to $605.7 million from $602.6 million in the prior year. Foreign exchange had a favorable impact on sales of
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approximately $15.6 million or 3 percentage points of growth. Worldwide net sales of Paper PCC increased 1% to
$547.2 million from $542.0 million in the prior year. In the fourth quarter of 2008, production levels within the North
American and European uncoated free sheet markets, our most significant market areas, continued to contract to adjust
to reduced demand and inventories in reaction to the global economic crisis. Compared to the fourth quarter of last
year, we saw additional machine shutdowns and paper mill closures, which could only be partially offset by increased
volumes from our new facilities in Thailand and Brazil. As a result, volume declines of 10% occurred in the fourth
quarter which resulted in full year Paper PCC sales volumes declining by 4% from the prior year. Volume declines
partially offset increased selling prices from the pass through of raw material cost increases and foreign exchange,
resulting in 1% sales growth. Sales of Specialty PCC declined 3% to $58.5 million from $60.6 million in 2007. This
decrease was primarily attributable to lower volumes.

     Worldwide net sales of PCC increased 8% in 2007 to $602.6 million from $557.0 million in the prior year. Net
sales of Paper PCC increased 8% to $542.0 million while Paper PCC volumes grew slightly. In 2007, sales growth
was attributable to increased selling prices from the pass through of raw material cost increases and to foreign
currency. Sales of Specialty PCC grew 7% in 2007 to $60.6 million from $56.4 million in the prior year. This increase
was primarily attributable to improved volumes, particularly in Europe, and to favorable effects of foreign exchange.

     Net sales of Processed Minerals products in 2008 decreased 3% to $110.7 million from $114.0 million in 2007.
GCC products and talc products decreased 2% and 4% to $74.8 million and $35.9 million, respectively. The decrease
in the Processed Minerals product line was attributable to further weakness in the residential and commercial
construction markets as well as the automotive market. As a result, volumes have declined 8% from the prior year.

     Net sales of Processed Minerals products in 2007 decreased 4% to $114.0 million from $118.6 million in 2006.
This decrease was primarily attributable to weakness in the residential construction and automotive markets.
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     Net sales in the Refractories segment in 2008 increased 10% to $395.8 million from $361.1 million in the prior
year. This segment was positively affected by increased selling prices necessitated by significant raw material
increases, which more than offset volume declines, and to the favorable effects of foreign exchange of $9.4 million or
3 percentage points of growth. Sales of refractory products and systems to steel and other industrial applications
increased 10% to $320.8 million in 2008 from $290.5 million in the prior year. Volume declined 7% for the full year
but were down 27% during the fourth quarter of 2008. Sales of metallurgical products within the Refractories segment
increased 6% to $75.0 million from $70.6 million in 2007. This increase was primarily attributable to slightly higher
volumes and favorable product mix, particularly in North America.

     Net sales in the Refractories segment in 2007 increased 4% to $361.1 million from $347.9 million in the prior year.
Sales of refractory products and systems increased 10% to $290.5 million in 2007 from $264.6 million in the prior
year. This growth was attributable to foreign currency and the Turkish acquisition. Sales of metallurgical products
decreased 15% in 2007 to $70.6 million from $83.3 million in the prior year. This decline was due to volumes in all
regions of the world and lower prices resulting from reduction in the cost of raw materials for this product that is
traditionally passed through to the customers.

     Net sales in the United States increased approximately 1% to $587.5 million in 2008 and represented
approximately 52.8% of consolidated net sales. International sales increased approximately 6% to $524.7 million, due
primarily to foreign currency.

Operating Costs and Expenses
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006
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Cost of goods sold $ 891.7 6 % $ 845.1 6 % $ 798.7
Marketing and administrative $ 101.8 (3) % $ 104.6 -- % $ 104.6
Research and development $ 23.1 (13) % $ 26.3 (5) % $ 27.8
Impairment of assets $ 0.2 * % $ 94.1 * % $ --
Restructuring charges $ 13.4 (17) % $ 16.0 * % $ --
*     

Percentage not meaningful

     Cost of goods sold in 2008 was 80.2% of sales compared with 78.4% in the prior year. Our cost of goods sold grew
6% compared with 3% sales growth resulting in a 5% decrease in production margin. In the Specialty Minerals
segment, the production margin decreased 9% as compared with a relatively flat sales growth. This segment has been
affected by increased raw materials and energy costs, lower volumes in the Processed Minerals product line and the
Paper PCC product line and price concessions in the Paper PCC product line. This was partially offset by the recovery
of raw material costs through price increases, the benefits of the restructuring program, manufacturing cost savings
initiatives and foreign exchange. In the Refractories segment, the production margin increased 1% as compared with
10% sales growth. This segment has been affected by increased raw material costs and lower volumes, partially offset
by price increases, the benefits of the restructuring program, and foreign exchange.

     Cost of goods sold in 2007 was 78.4% of sales compared with 78.1% in the prior year. Our cost of goods sold grew
6%, compared with 5% sales growth resulting in a 3% increase in production margin. In the Specialty Minerals
segment, the production margin increased 5% as compared with 6% sales growth. This segment has been affected by
reduced demand in the Processed Minerals product line and paper machine and paper mill shutdowns, which were
partially offset by the recovery of raw material costs and the benefit of foreign currency. In the Refractories segment,
the production margin increased 1% as compared with 4% sales growth. This segment has been affected by lower
margins in the metallurgical product line.

     Marketing and administrative costs were $101.8 million in 2008, a decline of 3% as compared to the prior year,
and represented 9.1% of net sales as compared with 9.7% in the prior year. This reduction was due to the benefits of
the restructuring program and other cost saving initiatives. In 2007, marketing and administrative expenses were the
same as the prior year.

     Research and development expenses decreased 13% in 2008 to $23.1 million and represented 2.1% of net sales.
This decline was due to cost savings from the restructuring program as the Company realigned its research and
development structure to effectively bring new developments to market faster. In 2007, research and development
expenses decreased 5% to $26.3 million and represented 2.4% of net sales.

     The Company recorded restructuring charges of $13.4 million in 2008. Approximately $6.8 million related to a
SFAS No. 88 pension settlement loss in our defined benefit plan in the United States. The remainder of the charges
relate to additional provisions for severance and other employee benefits as part of our restructuring program initiated
in 2007, and to an additional restructuring program initiated in the fourth quarter of 2008 resulting in charges of $3.9
million.
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     In 2007, the Company initiated a plan to realign its operations as a result of an in-depth strategic review of all of its
operations. This realignment resulted in impairment of assets charges and restructuring charges in 2007 as follows:
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Impairment of assets charges:

Paper PCC $ 65.3
Specialty PCC 12.7

Total PCC 78.0
Processed Minerals 1.3

Specialty Minerals Segment 79.3
Refractories Segment 14.8

$ 94.1

     Restructuring and other costs:

Severance and other employee benefits $ 13.5
Contract termination costs 1.8
Other exit costs 0.7

$ 16.0

     The restructuring program resulted in a reduction of over 200 employees.

Income (Loss) from Operations
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Income (loss) from operations $ 82.0 * % $ (8.5) (109) % $ 92.4
     The Company recorded income from operations in 2008 of $82.0 million as compared with a loss from operations
of $8.5 million in the prior year. Included in the 2008 income from operations was a restructuring charge of $13.4
million and impairment of assets charge of $0.2 million. The loss in the prior year was primarily attributable to the
aforementioned impairment of assets charges and restructuring and other exit costs.

     The Specialty Minerals segment recorded income from operations in 2008 of $57.0 million as compared with a loss
from operations of $20.0 million in 2007. Included in the prior year loss from operations was an impairment of assets
charge of $79.3 million and restructuring and other exit costs of $11.3 million.

     The Refractories segment recorded income from operations of $26.3 million in 2008 as compared with $11.5
million in the prior year. Included in income from operations in 2008 was a restructuring charge of $5.7 million.
Included in income from operations in 2007 was an impairment of assets charge of $14.8 million and restructuring and
other exit costs of $4.7 million.

     In 2007, the Specialty Minerals segment recorded a loss from operations of $20.0 million as compared with income
of $60.5 million in 2006. The Refractories segment recorded operating income in 2007 of $11.5 million as compared
with $31.9 million in the previous year.

Non-Operating Income (Deductions)
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Non-operating income (deductions),
net $ 0.3 * % $ (3.0) (49) % $ (5.9)
     The Company recorded non-operating income of $0.3 million in 2008 as compared with non-operating deductions
of $3.0 million in the prior year. This increase was primarily attributable to lower interest expense due to lower
interest rates and debt levels, higher interest income generated in connection with increased cash on hand and foreign
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exchange gains.

     Non-operating deductions decreased 49% in 2007 to $3.0 million from the prior year. This decrease was primarily
attributable to an insurance recovery gain of approximately $3.0 million in 2007, $1.2 million above the prior year.
Additionally, the Company recorded higher interest income of $1.3 over the prior year as a result of an increase in
cash, and cash equivalents in 2007.
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Provision for Taxes on Income
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Provision for taxes on income $ 24.1 114 % $ 11.3 (58) % $ 27.0
     The effective tax rate in 2008 was 29.3%. In 2007, the Company recorded a provision for income tax of $11.3
million on a loss before taxes of $11.5 million. This was primarily attributable to the restructuring and impairment
losses recorded in certain jurisdictions in which we were unable to record a tax benefit.

Minority Interests
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Minority interests $ 3.2 10 % $ 2.9 (15) % $ 3.4
     The increase in the provision for minority interests is attributable to improved profitability in our joint ventures.

     The decrease in the provision for minority interest in 2007 was primarily related to a reduction in profitability from
our consolidated joint ventures in China.

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

I n c ome  ( l o s s )  f r om  c o n t i n u i n g
operations $ 55.0 * % $ (25.7) (146) % $ 56.1
     The Company recognized income from continuing operations of $55.0 million in 2008 as compared with a loss of
$25.7 million in 2007. The loss in 2007 was due to the restructuring and impairment of assets charges.

     Income from continuing operations was $56.1 million in 2006.

Income (loss) from Discontinued
Operations
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Income (loss) from discontinued
operations $ 10.3 * % $ (37.8) (82) % $ (6.2)
*  

Percentage not meaningful
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      The Company recognized income from discontinued operations in 2008 of $10.3 million as compared with a loss
of $37.8 million in the prior year. Included in the 2008 income from discontinued operations was a pre-tax gain on
sale of idle facilities previously written down of $13.9 million. In 2007, the loss from discontinued operations
included pre-tax impairment of asset charges of $46.9 million and restructuring and other exit costs of $2.3 million. In
2006, the loss from discontinued operations included foreign currency translation losses of $1.6 million recognized
upon liquidation of the Company's investment in Israel.

    In 2007, the Company reflected in discontinued operations its Synsil&#174 product line and its two plants in the
Midwest that process imported ores. In 2006, the Company liquidated its wholly-owned subsidiary in Hadera, Israel,
and classified such business as discontinued operations.

Net Income (Loss)
(Dollars in millions) 2008 Growth 2007 Growth 2006

Net income (loss) $ 65.3 * % $ (63.5) (227) % $ 50.0
     The Company recorded net income of $65.3 million in 2008 as compared with a net loss of $63.5 million in 2007.
The loss in 2007 was attributable to impairment of assets and restructuring charges in both continuing operations and
discontinued operations.

     The Company recorded net income of $50.0 million in 2006.
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Outlook

     Looking forward, we remain concerned about the current state of the global economy and the impact it will have
on our product lines. U.S. and global economic conditions worsened significantly in the last quarter of 2008. The
stress caused to international credit markets, initially driven in large part by the devaluation of risky U.S. sub-prime
debt, led to a dramatic tightening in liquidity. The U.S. and foreign governments have responded with several
initiatives to alleviate the strain on the financial markets. While these programs have had some positive effects on
financial systems, credit remains tight and economic conditions in the U.S. and globally have continued to deteriorate.
Both industrial production and consumer spending have fallen sharply in the last half of 2008. As a result, we are
presently experiencing weakness in all of the industries we serve -- paper, steel, construction and automotive. Steel
production worldwide experienced steep declines in the fourth quarter of 2008 and there were several paper machine
shutdowns that affected our satellite PCC product line as the paper industry continues to consolidate and rationalize
capacity. In addition, there is further deterioration in the residential and commercial construction and automotive
markets, which is affecting our Processed Minerals product line. There is no clear indication as to when global
economic conditions will improve.

     However, as a result of the realigning and restructuring of our operations in 2007, we strengthened the basic
foundation of our businesses. Therefore, we are in a better position to effectively manage through these difficult
economic times.

     The Company initiated the following actions in response to the uncertainties in the global economy:

&#8226 Intensified monitoring and review processes around customers, suppliers and banking partners.

&#8226 Established additional cash conservation strategies.
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&#8226 Suspended stock buyback program.

&#8226 Reallocated our pension assets to conserve value.

&#8226 Shortened work weeks.

&#8226 Significantly reduced overtime.

&#8226 Continued our intensive expense control initiatives.

&#8226 Initiated an additional restructuring program with both permanent reductions and layoffs.

     In 2009, we plan to focus on the following growth strategies:

&#8226 Continue development and potential commercial introduction of filler-fiber composite technology for the paper industry to
increase the fill-rates of uncoated freesheet paper.

&#8226 Increase market penetration of PCC for paper filling at both freesheet and groundwood mills, particularly in emerging markets.

&#8226 Further expansion of the Company's PCC coating product line using the satellite model.

&#8226 Emphasize higher value specialty products and application systems to increase market penetration in the Refractories segment.

&#8226 Expand regionally into emerging markets, particularly to China and Eastern Europe.

&#8226 Development of unique calcium carbonates used in the manufacture of biopolymers, a new market opportunity.

&#8226 Continue to improve our cost competitiveness in all product lines.

&#8226 Explore selective acquisitions to complement our existing businesses.

     However, there can be no assurances that we will achieve success in implementing any one or more of these
strategies.

     As we continue to expand our operations overseas, we face the inherent risks of doing business abroad, including
inflation, fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange rates, changes in applicable laws and regulatory
requirements, export and import restrictions, tariffs, nationalization, expropriation, limits on repatriation of funds, civil
unrest, terrorism, unstable governments and legal systems and other factors. Some of our operations are located in
areas that have experienced political or economic instability, including Indonesia, Brazil, Thailand, China and South
Africa. In addition, our performance depends to some extent on that of the industries we serve, particularly the paper
manufacturing, steel manufacturing, and construction industries.

     Our sales of PCC are predominantly pursuant to long-term evergreen contracts, initially about ten years in length,
with paper companies at whose mills we operate satellite PCC plants. The terms of many of these agreements have
been extended, generally in connection with an expansion of the satellite PCC plant. Failure of a number of our
customers to renew existing
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agreements on terms as favorable to us as those currently in effect could cause our future sales growth rate to differ
materially from our historical growth rate and, if not renewed, could also result in impairment of the assets associated
with the PCC plant.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

     Cash flows provided from operations in 2008 were used principally to fund $31.0 million of capital expenditures,
to repay long-term debt of $17.1 million and to repurchase $45.3 million of common shares for treasury. Cash
provided from operating activities totaled $134.2 million in 2008 as compared with $179.7 million in 2007. The
decrease in cash from operating activities was primarily due to an increase in working capital and a decrease in
pension funding, as compared to the prior year. This increase primarily relates to increased inventory levels as
compared with December 2007. Early in 2008, the Company accelerated purchases of higher priced raw materials
imported from China to avoid potential supply interruptions. Additionally, lower volumes in the fourth quarter of
2008 affected inventory balances at December 31, 2008. As a result, days of inventory on hand increased to 88 days
from 71 days in the prior year. Included in cash flow from operations was pension plan funding of approximately $3.2
million, $24.1 million and $22.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

     As a result of the market decline, the Company reallocated its asset portfolio in its pension plan to fixed income
securities to prevent potential further declines in pension assets. The Company's pension plans are over 95% funded,
and presently there are no minimum funding requirements necessary. The Company expects its net periodic pension
expense to increase significantly in 2009 as a result of a lower asset base and amortization of unrealized losses on its
investment assets due to market conditions.

     On October 26, 2005, our Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company's management, at its discretion,
to repurchase up to $75 million in additional shares over the next three-year period. The Company completed this
program in February 2008 and repurchased 1,307,598 shares under this program at an average price of approximately
$57.36 per share.

     On October 24, 2007, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the Company's management to repurchase, at
its discretion, up to $75 million of additional shares over the next two-year period. As of December 31, 2008, 615,674
shares have been repurchased under this program at an average price of a proximately $61.45 per share.

     On January 28, 2009, our Board of Directors declared a regular quarterly dividend on our common stock of $0.05
per share. No dividend will be payable unless declared by the Board and unless funds are legally available for
payment.

     We have $169.8 million in uncommitted short-term bank credit lines, of which $13.4 million was in use at
December 31, 2008. At the present time, we have no indication that the financial institutions would be unable to
commit to these lines of credit should the need arise. We anticipate that capital expenditures for 2009 should
approximate $60 million, principally related to the construction of PCC plants and other opportunities that meet our
strategic growth objectives. We expect to meet our other long-term financing requirements from internally generated
funds, uncommitted bank credit lines and, where appropriate, project financing of certain satellite plants. The
aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 2009 - $4.0 million; 2010 - $4.6 million; 2011 - $-- million;
2012 - $8.0 million; 2013 - $-- million; thereafter - $84.6 million.

     The Company's debt to capital ratio is 14%, which is well below the financial covenant ratio in its debt agreements.

     The Company has contingent obligations associated with unrecognized tax benefits, including interest and
penalties, of approximately $10.9 million.

Critical Accounting Policies
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     Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.

     On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and assumptions, including those related to revenue recognition,
allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of inventories, valuation of long-term assets, goodwill and other intangible
assets, pension plan assumptions, income taxes, asset retirement obligations, income tax valuation allowances,
stock-based compensation, and litigation and environmental liabilities. We base our estimates on historical experience
and on other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis
for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that can not readily be determined from other
sources. There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates.
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     We believe the following critical accounting policies require us to make significant judgments and estimates in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements:

 &#8226 Revenue recognition: Revenue from sale of products is recognized at the time the goods are shipped
and title passes to the customer. In most of our PCC contracts, the price per ton is based upon the total
number of tons sold to the customer during the year. Under those contracts, the price billed to the
customer for shipments during the year is based on periodic estimates of the total annual volume that
will be sold to the customer. Revenues are adjusted at the end of each year to reflect the actual volume
sold. There were no significant revenue adjustments in the fourth quarter of 2008 and 2007,
respectively. We have consignment arrangements with certain customers in our Refractories segment.
Revenues for these transactions are recorded when the consigned products are consumed by the
customer. Revenues from sales of equipment are recorded upon completion of installation and receipt
of customer acceptance. Revenues from services are recorded when the services are performed.

 &#8226 Allowance for doubtful accounts: Substantially all of our accounts receivable are due from companies
in the paper, construction and steel industries. Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for
amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. Such allowance is established through a charge to
the provision for bad debt expenses. We recorded bad debt expenses (recoveries) of $0.2 million,
$(0.1) million and $0.4 million in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition to specific allowances
established for bankrupt customers, we also analyze the collection history and financial condition of
our other customers considering current industry conditions and determine whether an allowance needs
to be established or adjusted.

 &#8226 Property, plant and equipment, goodwill, intangible and other long-lived assets: Property, plant and
equipment are depreciated over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on management's estimates of
the period that the assets can generate revenue, which does not necessarily coincide with the remaining
term of a customer's contractual obligation to purchase products made using those assets. Our sales of
PCC are predominately pursuant to long-term evergreen contracts, initially ten years in length, with
paper mills at which we operate satellite PCC plants. The terms of many of these agreements have been
extended, often in connection with an expansion of the satellite PCC plant. Failure of a PCC customer
to renew an agreement or continue to purchase PCC from our facility could result in an impairment of
assets or accelerated depreciation at such facility.
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 &#8226 Valuation of long-lived assets, goodwill and other intangible assets: We assess the possible impairment
of long-lived assets and identifiable amortizable intangibles whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment at least annually in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 142. Factors we consider important that could trigger an impairment review
include the following:

&#8226significant under-performance relative to historical or projected future operating results;
&#8226significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for the overall business;
&#8226significant negative industry or economic trends;
&#8226market capitalization below invested capital.
     When we determine that the carrying value of intangibles, long-lived assets or goodwill may not be
recoverable based upon the existence of one or more of the above indicators of impairment, we principally
measure any impairment by our ability to recover the carrying amount of the assets from expected future
operating cash flow on a discounted basis. Net intangible assets, long-lived assets, and goodwill amounted to
$507.7 million as of December 31, 2008.

      The Company conducts its goodwill impairment testing in accordance with SFAS 142 for each Reporting
Unit as of the beginning of the fourth quarter with the assistance of valuation experts. SFAS 142 specifies a
two-step process for testing of goodwill impairment and measuring the magnitude of any impairment. Step
One involves a) developing the fair value of total invested capital of each Reporting Unit in which goodwill is
assigned; and b) comparing the fair value of total invested capital for each Reporting Unit to its carrying
amount, to determine if there is goodwill impairment. Should the carrying amount for a Reporting Unit
exceed its fair value, then the Step One test is failed, and the magnitude of any goodwill impairment is
determined under Step Two. The Step Two used to measure the amount of impairment loss, compares the
implied fair value of Reporting Unit goodwill with the carrying amount of goodwill.

     The Company has three reporting units, PCC, Processed Minerals and Refractories. The Company
performs its valuation utilizing two approaches to analyze and estimate value. These are the income approach
and the market approach. The income approach incorporates the discounted cash flow method and focuses on
the expected cash flow of the Reporting Unit. A number of assumptions and estimates are involved in the
application of the income approach to forecast operating cash flows, including sales volumes and prices, cost
of sales, working capital, capital spending and discount rates. We assumed minimal sales growth for 2009.
Our sales growth assumptions longer term ranged from 5% to 8%, which is consistent with our historical
trends. We also utilized a discount rate of 11% for each reporting unit and, in addition, incorporated a
company specific risk premium of 4% to adjust for the recent economic conditions. The market approach
utilizes two methodologies, the Guideline Company Method and the Similar Transactions Method. The
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Guideline Company Method focuses on comparing the Reporting Units' risk profile and growth prospects to
selected similar publicly-traded companies. The Similar Transactions Method considers prices paid in recent
transactions in the Reporting Unit's industry or related industries.

     In 2008, the estimated fair value of each Reporting Unit was in excess of each respective carrying value,
resulting in no impairment of goodwill.
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     The impairment testing involves the use of accounting estimates and assumptions, changes which could
materially impact our financial condition or operating performance if actual results differ from such estimates
and assumptions.

 &#8226 Accounting for income taxes: As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements,
we are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the jurisdictions in which we operate. This
process involves estimating current tax expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting
from differing treatments of items for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred
tax assets and liabilities, which are included in the consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the
likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income, and to the extent
we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we
establish a valuation allowance or increase this allowance in a period, we must include an expense
within the tax provision in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 48,
"Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes" ("FIN 48"), an interpretation of FASB Statement No.
109 ("SFAS 109"). The application of income tax law is inherently complex. Laws and regulations in
this area are voluminous and are often ambiguous. As such, we are required to make many subjective
assumptions and judgments regarding our income tax exposures. Interpretations of and guidance
surrounding income tax laws and regulations change over time. As such, changes in our subjective
assumptions and judgments can materially affect amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
and statements of operations. See Note 5 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, "Income
Taxes," for additional detail on our uncertain tax positions.

 &#8226 Pension Benefits: We sponsor pension and other retirement plans in various forms covering the
majority of employees who meet eligibility requirements. Several statistical and actuarial models which
attempt to estimate future events are used in calculating the expense and liability related to the plans.
These models include assumptions about the discount rate, expected return on plan assets and rate of
future compensation increases as determined by us, within certain guidelines. Our assumptions reflect
our historical experience and management's best judgment regarding future expectations. In addition,
our actuarial consultants also use subjective factors such as withdrawal and mortality rates to estimate
these assumptions. The actuarial assumptions used by us may differ materially from actual results due
to changing market and economic conditions, higher or lower withdrawal rates or longer or shorter life
spans of participants, among other things. Differences from these assumptions may result in a
significant impact to the amount of pension expense/liability recorded by us follows:

     A one percentage point change in our major assumptions would have the following effects.

Effect on Expense

(millions of dollars)
Discount
Rate

Salary
Scale

Return
on

Asset

1% increase $ (2.7) $ 0.4 $ (1.6)
1% decrease $ 2.8 $ (0.4) $ 1.6 

Effect on Projected Benefit Obligation

(millions of dollars)
Discount
Rate

Salary
Scale
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1% increase $ (21.9) $ 1.9 
1% decrease $ 21.9 $ (1.9)

 &#8226Asset Retirement Obligations: We currently record the obligation for estimated asset retirement costs at a fair
value in the period incurred. Factors such as expected costs and expected timing of settlement can affect the
fair value of the obligations. A revision to the estimated costs or expected timing of settlement could result in
an increase or decrease in the total obligation which would change the amount of amortization and accretion
expense recognized in earnings over time.

A one-percent increase or decrease in the discount rate would change the total obligation by approximately
$0.1 million.
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A one-percent increase or decrease in the inflation rate would change the total obligation by approximately
$0.3 million.

 &#8226The Company's accounts for stock-based compensation expense under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options on
their date of grant. This model is based upon assumptions relating to the volatility of the stock price, the life of
the option, risk-free interest rate and dividend yield. Of these, stock price volatility and option life require
greater levels of judgment and are therefore critical accounting estimates.

We used a stock price volatility assumption based upon the historical and implied volatility of the Company's
stock. We believe this is a good indicator of future, actual and implied volatilities. For stock options granted in
the period ended December 31, 2008, the Company used a volatility assumption of 25.20%.

The expected life calculation was based upon the observed and expected time to post-vesting forfeiture and
exercise. For stock options granted during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007, the Company used a 6.3
year life assumption.

The Company believes the above critical estimates are based upon outcomes most likely to occur, however,
were we to simultaneously increase or decrease the option life by one year and the volatility by 100 basis
points, recognized compensation expense would have changed approximately $0.1 million in either direction
for the year ended December 31, 2008.

     For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see "Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies" in the "Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements" in Item 15 of this report, beginning on
page F-6. This discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
related notes included elsewhere in this report.

Prospective Information and Factors That May Affect Future Results

     The SEC encourages companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can better understand
companies' future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This report may contain forward-looking
statements that set our anticipated results based on management's plans and assumptions. Words such as "expects,"
"plans," "anticipates," and words and terms of similar substance, used in connection with any discussion of future
operating or financial performance identify these forward-looking statements.
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     We cannot guarantee that the outcomes suggested in any forward-looking statement will be realized, although we
believe we have been prudent in our plans and assumptions. Achievement of future results is subject to risks,
uncertainties and the accuracy of assumptions. Should known or unknown risks or uncertainties materialize, or should
underlying assumptions prove inaccurate, actual results could vary materially from those anticipated, estimated or
projected. Investors should bear this in mind as they consider forward-looking statements and should refer to the
discussion of certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions in Item 1A, "Risk Factors."

Inflation

     Historically, inflation has not had a material adverse effect on us. However, in recent years both business segments
have been affected by rapidly rising raw material and energy costs. The Company and its customers will typically
negotiate reasonable price adjustments in order to recover a portion of these rapidly escalating costs. As the contracts
pursuant to which we construct and operate our satellite PCC plants generally adjust pricing to reflect increases in
costs resulting from inflation, there is a time lag before such price adjustments can be implemented.

Cyclical Nature of Customers' Businesses

     The bulk of our sales are to customers in the paper manufacturing, steel manufacturing and construction industries,
which have historically been cyclical. The pricing structure of some of our long-term PCC contracts makes our PCC
business less sensitive to declines in the quantity of product purchased. However, we cannot predict the economic
outlook in the countries in which we do business, nor in the key industries we serve.
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Recently Issued Accounting Standards

     In December 2008, The FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R) - 1, "Employer's Disclosure about Postretirement Benefit
Plan Assets" which will require more detailed disclosures about employers' pension plan assets. New disclosure
requirement will require additional information regarding investment strategies, major categories of plan assets,
concentrations of risk within plan assets and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of plan assets. This
new standard amends disclosure requirements only for periods ended after December 15, 2009.

     In March 2008, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 161, "Disclosures About
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - an amendment of FASB Statement No. 133." This statement amends
the disclosure requirements under SFAS 133 and requires companies with derivative instruments to provide enhanced
disclosures that would enable financial statement users to understand how derivative instruments affect a company's
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning on or
after November 15, 2008, with early adoption encouraged. The Company will adopt this pronouncement as of January
1, 2009.

     In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-1, "Application of FASB No. 157 to FASB Statement No. 13
and Other Accounting Pronouncements that Address Fair Value Measurements for Purposes of Lease Classification or
Measurement under Statement 13" and FSP FAS 157-2, "Effective Date of FASB Statement No. 157." FSP 157-1
excludes fair measurements for purposes of lease classification or measurement under FASB Statement 13 from the
fair value measurement under FASB Statement 157. FSP 157-2 defers the effective date of Statement 157 for certain
non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008.

     In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (revised 2007),
"Business Combinations" ("Statement No. 141(R)"). Statement No. 141(R) changes the requirements for an acquirer's
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recognition and measurement of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed in a business combination. Statement
No. 141(R) is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2008 and should be applied prospectively for
all business combinations entered into after the date of adoption.

     In December 2007, the FASB issued Financial Accounting Standards No. 160, "Noncontrolling Interests in
Consolidated Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB No. 51" ("Statement No. 160"). Statement No. 160
requires (i) that noncontrolling (minority) interests be reported as a component of shareholders' equity, (ii) that net
income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest be separately identified in the consolidated
statement of operations, (iii) that changes in a parent's ownership interest while the parent retains its controlling
interest be accounted for as equity transactions, (iv) that any retained noncontrolling equity investment upon the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary be initially measured at fair value, and (v) that sufficient disclosures are provided that
clearly identify and distinguish between the interests of the parent and the interests of the noncontrolling owners.
Statement No. 160 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2008 and should be applied
prospectively. However, the presentation and disclosure requirements of the statement shall be applied retrospectively
for all periods presented. The adoption of the provisions of Statement No. 160 is not anticipated to materially impact
the Company's consolidated financial position and results of operations.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

     Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows
due to adverse changes in market prices and foreign currency and interest rates. We are exposed to market risk
because of changes in foreign currency exchange rates as measured against the U.S. dollar. We do not anticipate that
near-term changes in exchange rates will have a material impact on our future earnings or cash flows. However, there
can be no assurance that a sudden and significant change in the value of foreign currencies would not have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Approximately 55% of our bank debt bears interest
at variable rates; therefore our results of operations would only be affected by interest rate changes to such bank debt
outstanding. An immediate 10% change in interest rates would not have a material effect on our results of operations
over the next fiscal year.

     We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes. When
appropriate, we enter into derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps,
to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange rate movements and interest rate movements on our operating results. The
counterparties are major financial institutions. Such forward exchange contracts and interest rate swaps would not
subject us to additional risk from exchange rate or interest rate movements because gains and losses on these contracts
would offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities, and transactions being hedged. We had open forward exchange
contracts to purchase approximately $6.4 million and $5.3 million of foreign currencies as of December 31, 2008 and
2007, respectively. These contracts mature between January and July of 2009. The fair value of these instruments at
December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 was a liability of $0.4 million and $0.1 million, respectively.
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     In 2008, the Company entered into forward contracts to purchase 30 million Euros as a hedge of its net investment
in Europe. These contracts mature in October 2013. The fair value of these instruments at December 31, 2008 was an
asset of $2.1 million.

Item 8.   Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

     The financial information required by Item 8 is contained in Item 15 of Part IV of this report.
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Item 9.   Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

     None.

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

     The Company's management, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report pursuant to Exchange
Act Rule 13a -15. The Company's disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in SEC rules and
forms. Based upon this evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the
Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13(a)-15(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) were effective in ensuring that material information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that we
file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported on a timely basis.

     Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, we have included a report of management's assessment
of the design and operating effectiveness of our internal controls as part of this report. Management's report is
included in our consolidated financial statements beginning on page F-1 of this report under the caption entitled
"Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting."

     The Company is in the process of implementing a global enterprise resource planning ("ERP") system to manage
our business operations. As of December 31, 2008, all of our domestic locations were using the new systems. The
worldwide implementation is expected to be completed over the next few years and involves changes in systems that
include internal controls. Although the transition has proceeded to date without material adverse effects, the
possibility exists that the migration to the new ERP system could adversely affect the Company's disclosure controls
and procedures or our results of operations in future periods. We are reviewing each system as it is being implemented
and the controls affected by the implementation of the new systems, and are making appropriate changes to affected
internal controls as we implement the new systems. We believe that the controls as modified are appropriate and
functioning effectively.    

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

     There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over
financial reporting.

Item 9B.  Other Information

     None.
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PART III

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

     Set forth below are the names and ages of all Executive Officers of the Registrant indicating all positions and
offices with the Registrant held by each such person, and each such person's principal occupations or employment
during the past five years.

Name Age Position

Joseph C. Muscari 62 Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

D. Randy Harrison 57 Senior Vice President, Organization and Human Resources

D.J. Monagle, III 46 Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Paper PCC

John A. Sorel 61 Senior Vice President, Finance, and Chief Financial Officer

William J.S. Wilkins 52 Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Minteq International

Michael A. Cipolla 51 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer

Douglas T. Dietrich 39 Vice President, Corporate Development and Treasury

Kirk G. Forrest 57 Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

William A. Kromberg 63 Vice President, Taxes

Douglas W. Mayger 51 Vice President and Managing Director, Performance Minerals

     Joseph C. Muscari was elected Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer effective March 1, 2007. Prior
to that he was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Alcoa Inc. He has served as a member of the
Board of Directors since 2005.

     D. Randy Harrison was elected Senior Vice President, Organization and Human Resources effective January 1,
2008. Prior to that he had been Vice President and Managing Director, Performance Minerals since January 2002.

     D.J. Monagle, III was elected Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Paper PCC, effective October 1, 2008.
Prior to that he had been appointed to Vice President and Managing Director - Performance Minerals, in November
2007. He joined the Company in January of 2003 and held positions of increasing responsibility including Vice
President, Americas, Paper PCC and Global Marketing Director, Paper PCC.

     John A. Sorel was elected Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Financial Officer in November 2002. Prior to
that time he was elected Senior Vice President, Corporate Development and Finance on January 1, 2002 and prior to
2002 he held positions of increasing authority with the Company, most recently Vice President and Managing
Director, Paper PCC.

     William J.S. Wilkins was elected Senior Vice President and Managing Director, Minteq International in November
2007. He joined the Company in June 2007 as Vice President, Global Supply Chain and Logistics. Prior to that he had
founded Management Services, a consulting firm. Before starting his consultancy, he was President and Chief
Executive Officer of Sermatech International Inc.; Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Teleflex
Aerospace Group; and head of finance and administration at Howmet Castings, a business unit of Alcoa, which he
joined in 1994.

     Michael A. Cipolla was elected Vice President, Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer in July 2003.
Prior to that he served as Corporate Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the Company since 1998. From 1992
to 1998 he served as Assistant Corporate Controller.
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     Douglas T. Dietrich was elected Vice President, Corporate Development and Treasury effective August 2007. Prior
to that he had been Vice President, Alcoa Wheel Products since 2006 and President, Latin America Extrusions and
Global Rod and Bar Products since 2002.

     Kirk G. Forrest was elected Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary effective January 26, 2005. Prior to
that, Mr. Forrest had been Vice President and General Counsel at SAM'S CLUB, and a Corporate Vice President of its
parent company, Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. and Associate General Counsel at The Williams Companies, which he joined
in 1998.

     William A. Kromberg has served as Vice President, Taxes of the Company since 1993.

     Doug Mayger was elected Vice President and Managing Director, Performance Minerals which encompasses the
Processed Minerals product line and the Specialty PCC product line, effective October 1, 2008. Prior to that he was
General Manager- Carbonates West, Performance Minerals and Business Manager - Western Region. Prior to joining
the Company as plant manager in Lucerne Valley in 2002, he served as Vice President of Operations for Aggregate
Industries.
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     The information concerning the Company's Board of Directors required by this item is incorporated herein by
reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the caption "Committees of the Board of Directors."

     The information regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 required by this
Item is incorporated herein by reference to the Company's Proxy Statement, under the caption "Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance."

     The Board has established a code of ethics for the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and the
Chief Accounting Officer entitled "Code of Ethics for the Senior Financial Officers," which is available on our
website, www.mineralstech.com, under the links entitled "Corporate Responsibility, Corporate Governance and
Policies and Charters."

Item 11.  Executive Compensation

     The information appearing in the Company's Proxy Statement under the caption "Compensation of Executive
Officers" is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

     The information appearing in the Company's Proxy Statement under the caption "Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters as of January 31, 2008" is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

     The information appearing in the Company's Proxy Statement under the caption "Certain Relationships and
Related Transactions" is incorporated herein by reference.

     Under the terms of certain agreements entered into in connection with the Company's initial public offering in
1992, Pfizer Inc ("Pfizer") and its wholly-owned subsidiary Quigley Company, Inc. ("Quigley") agreed to indemnify
the company against certain liabilities being retained by Pfizer and its subsidiaries including, but not limited to,
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pending lawsuits and claims, and any lawsuits or claims brought at any time in the future alleging damages or injury
from the use, handling of or exposure to any product sold by Pfizer's specialty minerals business prior to the closing of
the initial public offering. During 2008, agreement was reached with Pfizer providing for reimbursement by Pfizer of
past costs of defense, and direct payment of such costs going forward, for cases alleging damages from exposure to
product sold prior to the formation of the Company. During the fourth quarter, Pfizer reimbursed the Company in the
amount of $0.1 million for past defense costs.

     Pfizer and Quigley also agreed to indemnify the Company against any liability arising from claims for remediation,
as defined in the Agreement, of on-site environmental conditions relating to activities prior to the closing of the initial
public offering. Further, Pfizer and Quigley agreed to indemnify the Company for 50% of the liabilities in excess of
$1 million up to $10 million in liabilities that may have arisen or accrued within ten years after the closing of the
initial public offering with respect to such remediation of on-site conditions. The Company is responsible for the first
$1 million of such liabilities, 50% of all such liabilities in excess of $1 million up to $10 million, and all such
liabilities in excess of $10 million. The Company had asserted to Pfizer and Quigley a number of indemnification
claims pursuant to this agreement during the ten-year period following the closing of the initial public offering. On
January 30, 2006, Pfizer and the Company agreed to settle those claims, along with certain other potential
environmental liabilities of Pfizer, in consideration of a payment by Pfizer of $4.5 million. Such payment was
recorded as additional paid-in capital, net of its related tax effect.

     The Board has established Corporate Governance principles which include guidelines for determining Director
independence, which is available on our website, www.mineralstech.com, under the links entitled "Corporate
Responsibility, Corporate Governance and Policies and Charters."

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services

     The information appearing in the Company's Proxy Statement under the caption "Principal Accountant Fees and
Services" is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)  The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1. Financial Statements. The following Consolidated Financial Statements of Mineral Technologies Inc. and
subsidiary companies and Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm are set forth on pages F-2 to
F-35.

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2008 and 2007
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
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2. Financial Statement Schedule. The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this report:

Page
Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts S-1

     All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not
required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and, therefore, have been omitted.

3. Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed as part of, or incorporated by reference into, this report.

3.1 -Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company (1)
3.2 -By-Laws of the Company as amended and restated effective May 25, 2005 (5)
3.3 -Certificate of Designations authorizing issuance and establishing designations,

preferences and rights of Series A Junior Preferred Stock of the Company (1)
4   -Rights Agreement, executed effective as of September 13, 1999 (the "Rights

Agreement"), between Minerals Technologies Inc. and Chase Mellon Shareholders
Services L.L.C., as Rights Agents, including as Exhibit B the forms of Rights
Certificate and of Election to Exercise (6)

4.1 -Specimen Certificate of Common Stock (1)
10.1 -Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 28, 1992, by and between

Specialty Refractories Inc. and Quigley Company Inc. (2)
10.1(a) -Agreement dated October 22, 1992 between Specialty Refractories Inc. and Quigley

Company Inc., amending Exhibit 10.1 (3)
10.1(b) -Letter Agreement dated October 29, 1992 between Specialty Refractories Inc. and

Quigley Company Inc., amending Exhibit 10.1 (3)
10.2 -Reorganization Agreement, dated as of September 28, 1992, by and between the

Company and Pfizer Inc (2)
10.3 -Asset Contribution Agreement, dated as of September 28, 1992, by and between

Pfizer Inc and Specialty Minerals Inc. (2)
10.4 -Asset Contribution Agreement, dated as of September 28, 1992, by and between

Pfizer Inc and Barretts Minerals Inc. (2)
10.4(a) -Agreement dated October 22, 1992 between Pfizer Inc, Barretts Minerals Inc. and

Specialty Minerals Inc., amending Exhibits 10.3 and 10.4 (3)
10.5 -Form of Employment Agreement (4), together with schedule relating to executed

Employment Agreements (6) (+)
10.6 -Form of Severance Agreement, together with schedule relating to executed

Severance Agreements (7) (+)
10.7 -Company Employee Protection Plan, as amended August 27, 1999 (6) (+)
10.8 -Company Nonfunded Deferred Compensation and Unit  Award Plan for

Non-Employee Directors, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2008 (12)(+)
10.9 -2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan of the Company, as amended and restated as

of December 20, 2005 (7) (+)
10.10 -Company Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective as of January 1, 2006

(4) (+)
10.10(a) -First Amendment to the Company's Retirement Plan, effective as of January 1, 2008

(11) (+)
10.11 -Company Nonfunded Supplemental Retirement Plan, as amended effective April 24,

2003 (8) (+)
10.12 -Company Savings and Investment Plan, as amended and restated as of September

14, 2007 (11) (+)
10.13 -Company Nonfunded Deferred Compensation and Supplemental Savings Plan, as

amended effective April 24, 2003 (8) (+)
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10.14 -Company Health and Welfare Plan, effective as of April 1, 2003 and
amended and restated as of January 1, 2006 (4)(+)

10.15 -Grantor Trust Agreement, as amended and restated as of December 23,
2005, between the Company and The Bank of New York, as Trustee
(7)(+)

10.16 -Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 5, 2006, among the
Company, Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and MetLife
Insurance Company of Connecticut with respect to the Company's
issuance of $75,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of senior
unsecured notes due October 5, 2013 (9)

10.17 -Indenture ,  da ted  July  22,  1963,  be tween the  Cork Harbour
Commissioners and Roofchrome Limited (2)

10.18 -Agreement of Lease, dated as of May 24, 1993, between the Company
and Cooke Properties Inc. (1)

10.19 -Employment Agreement, dated November 27, 2006, between the
Company and Joseph C. Muscari (10)

21.1 -Subsidiaries of the Company (*)
23.1 -Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (*)
31.1 -Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification executed by the Company's

principal executive officer (*)
31.2 -Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification executed by the Company's

principal financial officer (*)
32 -Section 1350 Certification (*)

(1)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

(2)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-51292), originally filed on August 25, 1992.

(3)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Registration No. 33-59510), originally filed on March 15, 1993.

(4)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

(5)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's current Report on Form
8-K filed on May 27, 2005.

(6)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.

(7)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

(8)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2003.

(9)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on October 11, 2006.

(10)Incorporated by reference to exhibit 10.1 filed with the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed on
December 1, 2006.

(11)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

(12)Incorporated by reference to the exhibit so designated filed with the Company's Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended March 30, 2008.

(*)Filed herewith.
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(+)Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed pursuant to Item 601 of
Regulation S-K.
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SIGNATURES

     Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

By:/s/Joseph C. Muscari
Joseph C. Muscari
Cha i rman  o f  t h e  Boa rd  and  Ch i e f
Executive Officer

February 25, 2009

     Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ Joseph C. Muscari
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer February 25, 2009

Joseph C. Muscari (principal executive officer)

/s/ John A. Sorel

Senior Vice President-Finance and February 25, 2009

John A. Sorel
Chief Financial Officer (principal financial
officer)

/s/ Michael A. Cipolla
Vice President - Controller and February 25, 2009

Michael A. Cipolla
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Chief Accounting Officer (principal accounting
officer)
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SIGNATURE TITLE DATE

/s/ Paula H.J. Cholmondeley
Director February 25, 2009

Paula H. J. Cholmondeley

/s/ Duane R. Dunham
Director February 25, 2009

Duane R. Dunham

/s/ Steven J. Golub
Director February 25, 2009

Steven J. Golub

/s/ Kristina M. Johnson
Director February 25, 2009

Kristina M. Johnson

/s/ Michael F. Pasquale
Director February 25, 2009

Michael F. Pasquale

/s/ John T. Reid
Director February 25, 2009
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John T. Reid

/s/ William C. Stivers
William C. Stivers Director February 25, 2009
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F-1

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(thousands of dollars)

December 31,
2008 2007

Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 181,876 $ 128,985
Short-term investments, at cost which approximates market 9,258 9,697
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts:

2008 - $2,600; 2007 - $3,223 163,475 180,868
Inventories 133,983 103,373
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 23,281 22,773
Assets held for disposal 19,674 27,614

Total current assets 531,547 473,310

Property, plant and equipment, less accumulated depreciation
and depletion 429,593 489,386
Goodwill 66,414 71,964
Prepaid pension costs 483 53,667
Other assets and deferred charges 39,583 40,566

Total assets $1,067,620 $1,128,893
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Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ 14,984 $ 9,518
Current maturities of long-term debt 4,000 7,210
Accounts payable 67,393 66,084
Income taxes payable -- 3,826
Accrued compensation and related items 27,100 26,714
Restructuring liabilities 6,840 14,479
Other current liabilities 29,802 34,517
Liabilities of assets held for disposal 734 4,801

Total current liabilities 150,853 167,149

Long-term debt 97,221 111,006
Accrued pension and postretirement benefits 51,922 42,412
Deferred taxes on income -- 2,539
Other non-current liabilities 56,040 54,614

Total liabilities 356,036 377,720

Commitments and contingent liabilities (Notes 19 and 20)

Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, without par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; none
issued -- --
Common stock at par, $0.10 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized;

issued 28,832,875 shares in 2008 and 28,539,812 shares in 2007 2,883 2,854
Additional paid-in capital 312,972 294,367
Retained earnings 863,601 802,096
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (31,634) 45,365
Less common stock held in treasury, at cost; 10,141,073

shares in 2008 and 9,449,673 shares in 2007 (436,238) (393,509)
Total shareholders' equity 711,584 751,173

Total liabilities and shareholders'
equity $1,067,620 $1,128,893

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are an integral part of these statements.

F-2

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(thousands of dollars, except per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Net sales $1,112,212 $1,077,721 $1,023,544
Cost of goods sold 891,738 845,136 798,730

Production margin 220,474 232,585 224,814

Marketing and administrative expenses 101,857 104,649 104,633
Research and development expenses 23,052 26,348 27,753
Impairment of assets 209 94,070 --
Restructuring and other costs 13,365 16,017 --

Income (loss) from operations 81,991 (8,499) 92,428

Interest income 4,905 3,083 1,762
Interest expense (5,181) (8,701) (8,319)
Foreign exchange gains (losses) 1,694 513 (268)
Other income (deductions) (1,142) 2,105 955

Non-operating income (deductions), net 276 (3,000) (5,870)

Income (loss) before provision for
taxes on income, minority interests and
discontinued operations 82,267 (11,499) 86,558

Provision for taxes on income 24,079 11,266 26,992
Minority interests 3,183 2,904 3,441

Income (loss) from continuing operations 55,005 (25,669) 56,125
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 10,282 (37,845) (6,174)

Net income (loss) $ 65,287 $ (63,514) $ 49,951

Earnings per share:
Basic:

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2.91 $ (1.34) $ 2.86
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.54 (1.97) (0.31)

Basic earnings (loss) per
share $ 3.45 $ (3.31) $ 2.55

Diluted:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 2.90 $ (1.34) $ 2.84
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.54 (1.97) (0.31)

Diluted earnings (loss) per
share $ 3.44 $ (3.31) $ 2.53

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are an integral part of these statements.

Edgar Filing: ROYAL BANK OF CANADA - Form 424B2

56



F-3

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(thousands of dollars)

Year Ended December 31,
2008 2007 2006

Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $ 65,287 $ (63,514) $ 49,951
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 10,282 (37,845) (6,174)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 55,005 (25,669) 56,125
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from continuing
operations
to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 80,146 84,565 80,535
Impairment of assets 209 94,070 --
Pension settlement loss and amortization 11,293 5,604 4,592
Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 989 1,639 839
Deferred income taxes (3,001) (15,148) 4,345
Provisions for bad debts 159 (49) 377
Stock-based compensation 4,952 4,196 4,015
Other 3,184 2,729 3,475

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of
acquisitions:

Accounts receivable 9,060 15,281 5,148
Inventories (35,595) 15,223 (2,744)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 254 (923) 2,951
Pension plan funding (3,180) (24,050) (22,348)
Accounts payable 3,959 4,049 (6,268)
Restructuring liabilities (7,639) 14,479 --
Income taxes payable 4,333 3,956 3,040
Tax benefits related to stock incentive
programs 1,696 2,649 590
Other 4,295 (1,377) 4,293

Net cash provided by continuing operations 130,119 181,224 138,965
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations 4,092 (1,533) (3,366)
Net cash provided by operations 134,211 179,691 135,599

Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment q (31,027) (46,072) (57,426)
Purchases of short-term investments (10,007) (14,798) (12,590)
Proceeds from sales of short-term investments 6,654 14,147 6,440
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 609 354 675
Proceeds from insurance settlement -- 3,000 2,398
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired -- -- (32,416)
Net cash used in investing activities - continuing operations (33,771) (43,369) (92,919)

14,978 (3,376) (27,733)

Edgar Filing: ROYAL BANK OF CANADA - Form 424B2

57



Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities -
discontinued operations

Net cash used in investing activities (18,793) (46,745) (120,652)

Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt -- 7,741 75,000
Repayment of long-term debt (17,114) (5,411) (53,754)
Net proceeds from issuance (repayment) of short-term debt 4,840 (78,206) 24,797
Purchase of common shares for treasury (45,281) (25,339) (53,372)
Cash dividends paid (3,782) (3,845) (3,911)
Proceeds from issuance of stock under option plan 11,538 17,953 3,741
Excess tax benefits related to stock incentive programs 610 889 152
Indemnification proceeds from former parent company -- -- 4,500
Debt issuance costs -- -- (190)
Net cash used in financing activities (49,189) (86,218) (3,037)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (13,338) 14,328 4,919

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 52,891 61,056 16,829
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 128,985 67,929 51,100
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $181,876 $128,985 $ 67,929

Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
Tax liability on indemnification proceeds from former parent
company $ -- $ -- $ 1,782

Treasury stock purchases settled after year-end $ -- $ 2,552 $ --

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are an integral part of these statements.

F-4

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common
Stock Par
Value

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Deferred
Compensation

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Treasury
Stock at Cost Total

Balance as of January 1,
2006 $ 2,800 $261,159 $ (3,263) $828,591 $ (5,879) $(312,246) $771,162

Comprehensive Income:
Net income -- -- -- 49,951 -- -- 49,951
Currency translation
adjustment -- -- -- -- 35,924 -- 35,924
Additional minimum
liability -- -- -- -- 2,988 -- 2,988
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Cash flow hedge:
Net derivative losses
arising during the year -- -- -- -- (62) -- (62)
Reclassification
adjustment -- -- -- -- 124 -- 124
     Total comprehensive
income -- -- -- 49,951 38,974 -- 88,925
Dividends declared -- -- -- (3,911) -- -- (3,911)
Opening retained earnings
adjustment due
     to adoption of EITF
04-06 -- -- -- (7,119) -- -- (7,119)
Employee Benefit
transactions 10 3,731 -- -- -- -- 3,741
Income tax benefit arising
from employee
     stock option plans -- 741 -- -- -- -- 741
Reclassification of
unearned compensation -- (3,263) 3,263 -- -- -- --
Amortization of restricted
stock -- 1,679 -- -- -- -- 1,679
Indemnity proceeds, net of
tax -- 2,718 -- -- -- -- 2,718
Adjustment to initially
apply SFAS 158,
     net of tax -- -- -- -- (54,343) -- (54,343)
Stock option expenses -- 2,336 -- -- -- -- 2,336
Purchase of common
stock for treasury (53,372) (53,372)
Balance as of December
31, 2006 2,810 269,101 -- 867,512 (21,248) (365,618) 752,557
Comprehensive Income
(loss):
Net income (loss) -- -- -- (63,514) -- -- (63,514)
Currency translation
adjustment -- -- -- -- 48,488 -- 48,488
Unamortized gains and
prior service cost -- -- -- -- 18,106 -- 18,106

Cash flow hedge:
Net derivative losses
arising during the year -- -- -- -- (43) -- (43)
Reclassification
adjustment -- -- -- -- 62 -- 62
     Total comprehensive
income (loss) -- -- -- (63,514) 66,613 -- 3,099

Dividends declared -- -- -- (3,845) -- -- (3,845)
Opening retained earnings
adjustment due -- -- -- -- -- -- --
     to adoption of FIN 48
(Note 5) -- -- -- 1,943 -- -- 1,943
Employee benefit
transactions 44 17,909 -- -- -- -- 17,953
Income tax benefit arising
from employee
     stock option plans -- 3,161 -- -- -- -- 3,161
Amortization of restricted
stock -- 1,813 -- -- -- -- 1,813
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Stock option expenses -- 2,383 -- -- -- -- 2,383
Purchase of common
stock for treasury -- -- -- -- -- (27,891) (27,891)
Balance as of December
31, 2007 2,854 $294,367 $ -- $802,096 $ 45,365 $(393,509) $751,173
Comprehensive Income
(loss):
Net income (loss) -- -- -- 65,287 -- -- 65,287
Currency translation
adjustment -- -- -- -- (49,417) -- (49,417)
Unamortized losses and
prior service cost -- -- -- -- (28,751) -- (28,751)

Cash flow hedge:
Net derivative gains
arising during the year -- -- -- -- 1,126 -- 1,126
Reclassification
adjustment -- -- -- -- 43 -- 43
     Total comprehensive
income (loss) -- -- -- 65,287 (76,999) -- (11,712)
Dividends declared -- -- -- (3,782) -- -- (3,782)
Employee benefit
transactions 29 11,509 -- 11,538
Income tax benefit arising
from employee
     stock option plans -- 2,143 -- -- -- -- 2,143
Amortization of restricted
stock -- 2,994 -- -- -- -- 2,994
Stock option expenses -- 1,959 -- -- -- -- 1,959
Purchase of common
stock for treasury -- -- -- -- -- (42,729) (42,729)
Balance as of December
31, 2008 $ 2,883 $312,972 $ -- $863,601 $ (31,634) $(436,238) $711,584

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which are an integral part of these statements.

F-5

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1.   Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

     The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Minerals Technologies Inc. (the
"Company") and its wholly and majority-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation.

     Certain reclassifications were made to prior year amounts to conform with the current year presentation. See Note
4, "Discontinued Operations" for further information.

Use of Estimates
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     The Company employs accounting policies that are in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles and require management to make estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities
and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported period. Significant estimates include those related to
revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, valuation of inventories, valuation of long-lived assets,
goodwill and other intangible assets, pension plan assumptions, income tax, valuation allowances, and litigation and
environmental liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Business

     The Company is a resource- and technology-based company that develops, produces and markets on a worldwide
basis a broad range of specialty mineral, mineral-based products and related systems and technologies. The
Company's products are used in the manufacturing processes of the paper and steel industries, as well as by the
building materials, polymers, ceramics, paints and coatings, and other manufacturing industries.

Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments

     The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents were $4.7 million at December 31, 2007. Short-term investments consist of financial
instruments with original maturities beyond three months, but less than twelve months. Short-term investments
amounted to $9.3 million and $9.7 million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Trade Accounts Receivable

     Trade accounts receivables are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is the Company's best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in the Company's existing
accounts receivable. The Company determines the allowance based on historical write-off experience and specific
allowances for bankrupt customers. The Company also analyzes the collection history and financial condition of its
other customers, considering current industry conditions and determines whether an allowance needs to be
established. The Company reviews its allowance for doubtful accounts monthly. Past due balances over 90 days based
on payment terms are reviewed individually for collectibility. Account balances are charged off against the allowance
after all means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company
does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

Inventories

     Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

     Additionally, as required by SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs - an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4," items
such as idle facility expense, excessive spoilage, freight handling costs and re-handling costs are recognized as current
period charges. The allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion are based upon the normal
capacity of the production facility. Fixed overhead costs associated with idle capacity are expensed as incurred.

Property, Plant and Equipment

     Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Significant improvements are capitalized, while maintenance
and repair expenditures are charged to operations as incurred. The Company capitalizes interest cost as a component
of construction in progress. In general, the straight-line method of depreciation is used for financial reporting purposes
and accelerated methods are used for U.S. and certain foreign tax reporting purposes. The annual rates of depreciation
are 3% - 6.67% for buildings, 6.67% - 12.5% for machinery and equipment, 8% - 12.5% for furniture and fixtures and
12.5% - 25% for computer equipment and software-related assets. The estimated useful lives of our PCC production
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facilities and machinery and equipment pertaining to our natural stone mining and processing plants and our chemical
plants are 15 years.

     Property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their useful lives. Useful lives are based on management's
estimates of the period that the assets can generate revenue, which does not necessarily coincide with the remaining
term of a customer's contractual obligation to purchase products made using those assets. The Company's sales of
PCC are predominantly

F-6

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

pursuant to long-term evergreen contracts, initially ten years in length, with paper mills at which the Company
operates satellite PCC plants. The terms of many of these agreements have been extended, often in connection with an
expansion of the satellite PCC plant. Failure of a PCC customer to renew an agreement or continue to purchase PCC
from a Company facility could result in an impairment of assets charge or accelerated depreciation at such facility.

     Depletion of mineral reserves is determined on a unit-of-extraction basis for financial reporting purposes, based
upon proven and probable reserves, and on a percentage depletion basis of tax purposes.

Stripping Costs Incurred During Production

     The Company accounts for stripping costs in accordance with the consensus of Emerging Issues Task Force
("EITF") Issue No. 04-06, "Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred During Production in the Mining Industry."
Stripping costs are those costs incurred for the removal of waste materials for the purpose of accessing ore body that
will be produced commercially. Stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a mine are variable costs that
are included in the costs of inventory produced during the period that the stripping costs are incurred.

Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

     The Company accounts for impairment of long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived assets," and EITF 04-3, "Mining Assets: Impairment and Business
Combinations." SFAS No. 144 establishes a uniform accounting model for long-lived assets to be disposed of.
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable, the Company estimates the undiscounted future cash flows (excluding interest),
resulting from the use of the asset and its ultimate disposition. If the sum of the undiscounted cash flows (excluding
interest) is less than the carrying value, the Company recognizes an impairment loss, measured as the amount by
which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset, determined principally using discounted cash flows.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

     Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the value assigned to the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets of businesses acquired. The Company accounts for goodwill and other intangible assets
under SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill and other intangible
assets with indefinite lives are not amortized, but instead tested for impairment at least annually in accordance with
the provisions of SFAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intangible assets with estimable useful lives be
amortized over their respective estimated lives to the estimated residual values, and reviewed for impairment in
accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets."
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     The Company evaluates the recoverability of goodwill using a two-step impairment test approach at the reporting
unit level. In the first step, the fair value for the reporting unit is compared to its book value including goodwill. In the
case that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than book value, a second step is performed which compares the
fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill to the book value of the goodwill. The fair value for the goodwill is
determined based on the difference between the fair values of the reporting unit and the net fair values of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of such reporting unit. If the fair value of the goodwill is less than the book value, the
difference is recognized as an impairment.

Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations

     The Company accounts for asset retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations" and under the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 47, "Accounting for Conditional Asset
Retirement Obligations." SFAS No. 143 establishes the financial accounting and reporting for obligations associated
with the retirement of long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. This statement requires that the fair
value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation be recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable
estimate of fair value can be made. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount
of the long-lived asset. FASB Interpretation No. 47 includes legal obligations to perform asset retirement activities
where timing or method of settlement are conditional on future events.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

     The recorded amounts of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, short-term borrowings, accounts payable, accrued
interest, and variable-rate long-term debt approximate fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments or
the variable nature of underlying interest rates. Short-term investments are recorded at cost, which approximates fair
market value.
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Derivative Financial Instruments

     The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments which are used to hedge certain foreign exchange risk
in accordance with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities," as amended by
SFAS No. 138, "Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedging Activities." See Note 13 for a
full description of the Company's hedging activities and related accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

     Revenue from sale of products is recognized at the time the goods are shipped and title passes to the customer. In
most of the Company's PCC contracts, the price per ton is based upon the total number of tons sold to the customer
during the year. Under those contracts the price billed to the customer for shipments during the year is based on
periodic estimates of the total annual volume that will be sold to such customer. Revenues are adjusted at the end of
each year to reflect the actual volume sold. The Company also has consignment arrangements with certain customers
in our Refractories segment. Revenues for these transactions are recorded when the consigned products are consumed
by the customer.

     Revenues from sales of equipment are recorded upon completion of installation and receipt of customer
acceptance. Revenues from services are recorded when the services have been performed.
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Foreign Currency

     The assets and liabilities of the Company's international subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using exchange
rates at the respective balance sheet date. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders' equity. Income statement items are generally translated at monthly
average exchange rates prevailing during the period. International subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary
economies translate non-monetary assets at historical rates, while net monetary assets are translated at current rates,
with the resulting translation adjustments included in net income. At December 31, 2008, the Company had no
international subsidiaries operating in highly inflationary economies.

Income Taxes

     Income taxes are provided for based on the asset and liability method of accounting pursuant to SFAS No. 109,
"Accounting for Income Taxes." Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the
estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Under SFAS No. 109, the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income
in the period that includes the enactment date.

     The Company operates in multiple taxing jurisdictions, both within the U.S. and outside the U.S. In certain
situations, a taxing authority may challenge positions that the Company has adopted in its income tax filings. The
Company regularly assesses its tax position for such transactions and includes reserves for those differences in
position. The reserves are utilized or reversed once the statute of limitations has expired or the matter is otherwise
resolved.

The Company accounts for uncertain tax positions in accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes" ("FIN 48"), an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109 ("SFAS 109"). The application of income tax law is inherently complex. Laws
and regulations in this area are voluminous and are often ambiguous. As such, we are required to make many subjective assumptions and
judgements regarding our income tax exposures. Interpretations of and guidance surrounding income tax laws and regulations change over time.
As such, changes in our subjective assumptions and judgements can materially affect amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets and
statements of operations. The Company's accounting policy is to recognize interest and penalties as part of its provision for income taxes. See
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, "Income Taxes," for additional detail on our uncertain tax positions.

     The accompanying financial statements generally do not include a provision for U.S. income taxes on international
subsidiaries' unremitted earnings, which are expected to be permanently reinvested overseas.

Research and Development Expenses
     Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred.

     Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

     The Company accounts for share-based compensation in accordance with SFAS No. 123R, "Share-Based Payment." Under the provisions of
SFAS No. 123R, the Company recognizes compensation expense for share-based awards based upon the grant date fair value over the vesting
period.
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Pension and Post-retirement Benefits
     The Company has defined benefit pension plans covering the majority of its employees. The benefits are generally
based on years of service and an employee's modified career earnings.

     The Company also provides post-retirement healthcare benefits for the majority of its retirees and employees in the
United States. The Company measures the costs of its obligation based on its best estimate. The net periodic costs are
recognized as employees render the services necessary to earn the post-retirement benefits.

Environmental
     Expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to
an existing condition caused by past operations and which do not contribute to current or future revenue generation
are expensed. Liabilities are recorded when it is probable the Company will be obligated to pay amounts for
environmental site evaluation, remediation or related costs, and such amounts can be reasonably estimated.

Earnings Per Share
     Basic earnings per share have been computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period.

     Diluted earnings per share have been computed based upon the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the period assuming the issuance of common shares for all potentially dilutive common shares
outstanding.

Note 2.   Stock-Based Compensation

     The Company has a 2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), which provides for grants of incentive and
non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock awards or performance unit awards. The
Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Stock options granted under the Plan
generally have a ten year term. The exercise price for stock options are at prices at or above the fair market value of
the common stock on the date of the grant, and each award of stock options will vest ratably over a specified period,
generally three years.

     The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No.
123R, "Share-Based Payments." Stock-based compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated financial
statements for stock options based on the grant date fair value estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS
No. 123R.

     Net income (loss) for years ended 2008, 2007 and 2006 include $2.0 million, $2.4 million and $2.3 million pretax
compensation costs, respectively, related to stock option expense as a component of marketing and administrative
expenses.  All stock option expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. The related tax benefit
included in the statement of operations on the non-qualified stock options is $0.7 million, $0.6 million and $0.5
million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

      As required under SFAS No. 123R, the benefits of tax deductions in excess of the tax benefit of compensation
costs recognized or would have been recognized under SFAS No. 123 for those options are classified as financing
inflows on the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Stock Options

     The fair value of options granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model.
Compensation expense is recognized only for those options expected to vest, with forfeitures estimated at the date of
grant based on the Company's historical experience and future expectations. The forfeiture rate assumption used for
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the period ended December 31, 2008 was approximately 8.8%.

     The weighted average grant date fair value for stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 was $19.11, $21.61and $18.97, respectively. The weighted average grant date fair value for stock
options vested during 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $21.12, $20.83 and $20.83, respectively. The total intrinsic value of
stock options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $5.9 million, $9.4 and $1.8
million, respectively.
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      The fair value for stock awards was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation model
with the following weighted average assumptions for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006:

2008 2007 2006

Expected life (years) 6.3 6.5 6.4
Interest rate 2.50 % 4.50 % 4.63 %

Volatility 25.20 % 25.10 % 24.78 %

Expected dividend yield 0.34 % 0.26 % 0.37 %

     The expected term of the options represents the estimated period of time until exercise and is based on historical
experience of similar awards, based upon contractual terms, vesting schedules, and expectations of future employee
behavior. The expected stock-price volatility is based upon the historical and implied volatility of the Company's
stock. The interest rate is based upon the implied yield on U.S. Treasury bills with an equivalent remaining term.
Estimated dividend yield is based upon historical dividends paid by the Company.

     The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2008:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Balance January 1, 2007 77 839,715 $ 50.51

Granted 112,300 67.47

Exercised (261,460 ) 43.97

Canceled (28,774 ) 57.90

Balance December 31, 2008 661,781 55.14 5.93 $ 188

Exercisable, December 31, 2008 436,591 $ 51.40 3.00 $ 188

     The aggregate intrinsic value above is calculated before applicable income taxes, based on the Company's closing
stock price of $40.90 as of the last business day of the period ended December 31, 2008 had all options been exercised
on that date. The weighted average intrinsic value of the options exercised during 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $22.47,
$21.70 and $17.48 per share, respectively. As of December 31, 2008, total unrecognized stock-based compensation
expense related to nonvested stock options was approximately $2.3 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
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weighted average period of approximately three years.

     The Company issues new shares of common stock upon the exercise of stock options.

     Non-vested stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Shares

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Per Share

Nonvested options outstanding at December 31, 2007 235,928 $ 58.98

Options granted 112,300 64.47

Options vested (97,069 ) 57.36

Options forfeited (25,969 ) 59.25

Nonvested options outstanding, December 31, 2008 225,190 $ 62.38
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     The following table summarizes additional information concerning options outstanding at December 31, 2008:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding
at 12/31/08

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable

at
12/31/08

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$ 34.825 - $ 44.156 58,453 1.0 $ 37.71 58,453 $ 37.71
$ 46.625 - $ 54.225 316,195 4.7 $ 51.71 305,498 $ 51.62
$ 55.870 - $ 69.315 287,133 8.3 $ 62.46 72,640 $ 61.49

$ 34.825 - $ 69.315 661,781 5.9 $ 55.14 436,591 $ 51.40

Restricted Stock

     The Company has granted certain corporate officers rights to receive shares of the Company's common stock under
the Company's 2001 Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). The rights will be deferred for a specified number
of years of service, subject to restrictions on transfer and other conditions. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123R,
compensation expense for these shares is recognized over the vesting period. The Company granted 68,600 shares,
87,650 shares and 50,300 shares for the periods ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The fair
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value was determined based on the market value of unrestricted shares. The discount for the restriction was not
significant. As of December 31, 2008, there was unrecognized stock-based compensation related to restricted stock of
$5.3 million, which will be recognized over approximately the next three years. The compensation expense amortized
with respect to all units was approximately $3.6 million, $2.8 million and $1.7 million for the periods ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. In addition, the Company recorded reversals of $0.6 million and
$1.0 million for periods ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007, respectively, related to restricted stock
forfeitures. Such costs and reversals are included in marketing and administrative expenses. There were 28,267
restricted stock shares that vested as of December 31, 2008.

     The following table summarizes the restricted stock activity for the Plan:

Shares

Weighted
Average
Grant

Date Fair
Value

Unvested balance at December 31, 2007 133,533 $ 58.98

Granted 68,600 $ 64.06

Vested (28,267 ) $ 56.45

Canceled (12,572 ) $ 58.30

Unvested balance at December 31, 2008 161,294 $ 61.63

Note 3.   Earnings Per Share (EPS)

(thousand of dollars, except per share amounts) 2008 2007 2006

Basic EPS
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 55,005 $ (25,669 ) $ 56,125
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 10,282 (37,845 ) (6,174 )

Net income (loss) $ 65,287 $ (63,514 ) $ 49,951

Weighted average shares outstanding 18,893 19,190 19,600

Basic earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations $ 2.91 $ (1.34 ) $ 2.86
Basic earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations 0.54 (1.97 ) (0.31 )

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 3.45 $ (3.31 ) $ 2.55

F-11

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Diluted EPS 2008 2007 2006

Income (loss) from continuing operations $ 55,005 $ (25,669 ) $ 56,125
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 10,282 (37,845 ) (6,174 )
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Net income (loss) $ 65,287 $ (63,514 ) $ 49,951

Weighted average shares outstanding 18,893 19,190 19,600
Dilutive effect of stock options 90 -- 138

Weighted average shares outstanding, adjusted 18,983 19,190 19,738

Diluted earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations $ 2.90 $ (1.34 ) $ 2.84
Diluted earnings (loss) per share from discontinued operations 0.54 (1.97 ) (0.31 )

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 3.44 $ (3.31 ) $ 2.53

     Options to purchase 603,828 shares, 154,133 shares and 371,587 shares of common stock for the years ended
December 31, 2008, December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006, respectively, were not included in the computation
of diluted earnings per share because they were anti-dilutive, as the exercise prices of the options were greater than the
average market price of the common shares. Additionally, the weighted average diluted common shares outstanding
for the year ended December 31, 2007 excludes the dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock, as inclusion of
these would be anti-dilutive.

Note 4.   Discontinued Operations

     During the third quarter of 2007, the Company conducted an in-depth strategic review of its operations. This
review resulted in a realignment of its operations, which included the exiting of certain businesses.

     The Board of Directors approved the transactions during the fourth quarter of 2007 and the Company classified its
Synsil operations and its plants at Mount Vernon and Wellsville as discontinued operations. These operations were
part of the Company's Specialty Minerals segment. The remaining assets of these operations are held for disposal.
During 2008, the Company sold its idle Synsil facilities in Chester, South Carolina, Woodville, Ohio and Cleburne,
Texas. Additionally, the Company sold its operations in Wellsville, Ohio. These sales resulted in pre-tax gains of
$13.7 million ($8.6 million after tax). The Company does not anticipate the ongoing cash flows of these operations
until disposition to be material.

     In April 2006, the Company ceased operation at its one-unit satellite PCC facility in Hadera, Israel. In the fourth
quarter, the Company recorded a loss from discontinued operations of approximately $1.7 million upon liquidation of
its investment in Israel. This loss was predominantly related to the recognition of foreign currency translation losses
previously recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

     The consolidated financial statements for all prior periods presented have been reclassified to reflect these
businesses in discontinued operations.

     The following table details selected financial information for the discontinued operation in the consolidated
statements of operations. The amounts exclude general corporate overhead and interest expense which were
previously allocated to the entities comprising discontinued operations.

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007 2006

Net sales $ 23,148 $ 30,187 $ 37,232

Production margin 3,278 (5,238 ) (3,432 )

Expenses 850 4,129 4,035
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Impairment of assets -- 46,878 --

Restructuring and other costs 74 2,317 --

Gain on sale of assets 13,897 -- --

Income (loss) from operations $ 16,251 $ (58,562 ) $ (7,467 )

Other income -- 82 481

Foreign currency translation

loss from liquidation of investment -- -- (1,563 )

Provision (benefit) for taxes on income 5,969 (20,635 ) (2,375 )

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 10,282 $ (37,845 ) $ (6,174 )
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     The major classes of assets and liabilities held for disposals in the consolidated balance sheets are as follows:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007

Assets:

Accounts receivable $ 1,229 $ 4,328

Inventories 7,198 10,146

Property, plant and equipment, net 9,802 11,507

Goodwill 815 1,629

Other assets 630 4

Assets held for disposal $ 19,674 $ 27,614

Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 610 $ 2,897

Accrued liabilities 124 1,904

Liabilities of assets held for disposal $ 734 $ 4,801

Note 5.   Income Taxes

     Income (loss) before provision for taxes, minority interests, and discontinued operations by domestic and foreign
source is as follows:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007 2006

Domestic $ 36,512 $ 8,243 $ 48,074
Foreign 45,755 (19,742 ) 38,484

Total income (loss) before provision for income taxes $ 82,267 $ (11,499 ) $ 86,558
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     The provision for taxes on income consists of the following:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007 2006

Domestic

Taxes currently payable

Federal $ 10,199 $ 11,257 $ 8,609
State and local 2,090 1,362 2,877
Deferred income taxes (724 ) (9,955 ) 5,044

Domestic tax provision 11,565 2,664 16,530

Foreign

Taxes currently payable 14,791 13,795 11,161
Deferred income taxes (2,277 ) (5,193 ) (699 )

Foreign tax provision 12,514 8,602 10,462

Total tax provision $ 24,079 $ 11,266 $ 26,992

     The provision for taxes on income shown in the previous table is classified based on the location of the taxing
authority, regardless of the location in which the taxable income is generated.
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     The major elements contributing to the difference between the U.S. federal statutory tax rate and the consolidated
effective tax rate are as follows:

Percentages 2008 2007 2006

U.S. statutory tax rate 35.0% (35.0)% 35.0 %
Depletion (4.2) (31.3) (4.9)
Difference between tax provided on foreign earnings

and the U.S. statutory rate (4.6) (15.0) (3.5)
Foreign restructuring and impairment losses

with no tax benefit -- 145.3 --
State and local taxes, net of Federal tax benefit 1.3 6.2 2.6 
Tax credits and foreign dividends (0.5) 6.1 0.8 
Increase in valuation allowance 0.3 4.6 1.2 
Impact of FIN 48 0.9 8.2 -- 
Other 1.1 8.9 (0.1)
Consolidated effective tax rate 29.3% 98.0 % 31.1 %

     The Company believes that its accrued liabilities are sufficient to cover its U.S. and foreign tax contingencies. The
tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities are presented below:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007
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Deferred tax assets:
State and local taxes $ 2,073 $ 3,409
Accrued expenses 12,450 10,085
Deferred expenses -- 233
Net operating loss carry forwards 4,073 3,502
Pension and post-retirement benefits costs 24,022 87
Other 17,588 17,595
Total deferred tax assets $ 60,206 $ 34,911

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007
Deferred tax liabilities:
Plant and equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation $ 33,049 $ 15,689
Other 14,019 11,748
Total deferred tax liabilities 47,068 27,437
Net deferred tax (assets) liabilities $ (13,138) $ (7,474)

     The current and long-term portion of net deferred tax (assets) liabilities is as follows:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007

Net deferred tax assets, current $ (5,065) $ (7,974)
Net deferred assets, long term (8,073) (2,039)
Net deferred tax liabilities -- 2,539

$ (13,138) $ (7,474)

     The current portion of the net deferred tax assets is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets.

     The Company has $4.0 million of deferred tax assets arising from tax loss carry forwards which will be realized
through future operations. Carry forwards of approximately $0.2 million expire in 5 years, $0.2 million expire in 7
years, $1.2 million expire over the next 15 years, and $2.4 million can be utilized over an indefinite period.

     On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), "Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes." FIN 48 specifies the way companies are to account for uncertainty in income tax
reporting and prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for tax positions taken or expected to be
taken in a tax return. As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, the Company recognized a $1.9 million decrease in the
liability for unrecognized income tax benefits, resulting in an increase to the January 1, 2007 balance of retained
earnings.
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     As of the date of adoption of FIN 48, the Company had approximately $9.0 million of total unrecognized income
tax benefits and $2.3 million of interest and penalties. On December 31, 2008, the Company had $10.9 million of total
unrecognized tax benefits. Included in this amount were a total of $6.4 million of unrecognized income tax benefits
that, if recognized, would affect the Company's effective tax rate. While it is expected that the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits will change in the next 12 months, we do not expect the change to have a significant impact
on the results of operations or the financial position of the Company.
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     The following table summarizes the activity related to our unrecognized tax benefits:

(Thousands of Dollars) 2008 2007

Balance as of January 1, $ 10,395 $ 9,035
Increases related to current year positions 2,973 1,390
Increases (decreases) related to new judgements 398 (109 )

Decreases related to audit settlements (2,204 ) (397 )

Other (614 ) 476

Balance as of December 31, $ 10,948 $ 10,395

     The Company's accounting policy prior to the adoption of FIN 48 and upon the adoption of FIN 48 is to recognize
interest and penalties accrued, relating to unrecognized income tax benefits as part of its provision for income taxes.
The Company had a net reversal of $0.4 million of interest and penalties during 2008 and have a total accrued balance
on December 31, 2008 of $2.5 million.

     The Company operates in multiple taxing jurisdictions, both within and outside the U.S. In certain situations, a
taxing authority may challenge positions that the Company has adopted in its income tax filings. The Company, with a
few exceptions (none of which are material), is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, local, and European income tax
examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2003.

     Net cash paid for income taxes were $19.6 million, $16.8 million and $18.0 million for the years ended December
31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Note 6.   Foreign Operations

     The Company has not provided for U.S. federal and foreign withholding taxes on $183.4 million of foreign
subsidiaries' undistributed earnings as of December 31, 2008 because such earnings are intended to be permanently
reinvested overseas. To the extent the parent company has received foreign earnings as dividends, the foreign taxes
paid on those earnings have generated tax credits, which have substantially offset related U.S. income taxes. However,
in the event that the entire $183.4 million of foreign earnings were to be repatriated, incremental taxes may be
incurred. We do not believe this amount would be more than $22 million.

     Net foreign currency exchange gains (losses), included in non-operating deductions in the Consolidated Statements
of Income, were $1,694,000, $513,000 and $(268,000) for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Note 7.   Inventories

     The following is a summary of inventories by major category:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007

Raw materials $ 67,498 $ 41,998
Work in process 10,191 8,134
Finished goods 35,027 31,144
Packaging and supplies 21,267 22,097
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Total inventories $ 133,983 $ 103,373
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Note 8.   Property, Plant and Equipment

     The major categories of property, plant and equipment and accumulated depreciation and depletion are presented
below:

Thousands of Dollars 2008 2007
Land $ 25,182 $ 21,720
Quarries/mining properties 39,596 39,123
Buildings 167,912 161,865
Machinery and equipment 959,291 975,177
Construction in progress 12,960 33,478
Furniture and fixtures and other 119,290 120,480

1,324,231 1,351,843
Less: Accumulated depreciation and depletion (894,638) (862,457)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 429,593 $ 489,386

      Depreciation and depletion expense for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $76.2 million,
$80.4 million and $80.5 million, respectively.

Note 9.   Restructuring Costs

     Following an in-depth review of all our operations and development of a new strategic focus, the Company
recorded a pre-tax charge of $16.0 million for restructuring and other costs during the second half of 2007. This
charge consists of severance and other employee benefit costs, contract termination costs and other exit costs.
Additional restructuring costs of $9.5 million were recorded in 2008 related to this program, of which a pension
settlement loss of approximately $6.8 million related to the distribution of benefits was included. The restructuring
resulted in a total workforce reduction of approximately 250 employees, of which 230 reductions have been
implemented as of December 31, 2008.

     During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company initiated an additional restructuring program by reducing the
workforce by approximately 14% through a combination of permanent reductions and layoffs. Severance-related
restructuring charges of $3.9 million were recorded in 2008 related to this program.

     The following table reflects components of the restructuring charges:

(millions of dollars) 2008 2007
S e v e r a n c e  a n d  o t h e r
employee benefits $ 6.1

$
13.5

Pension settlement charges 6.8 --
Contract termination costs -- 1.8
Other exit costs 0.5 0.7

$ 13.4 $ 16.0
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Total restructuring and other
costs

     The restructuring charge in 2007 also resulted in inventory write-downs of approximately $0.2 million which were
included in cost of goods sold.

     A reconciliation of the restructuring liability, as of December 31, 2008, is as follows:

(millions of dollars)

Balance as of
December 31,

2007
Additional
Provisions

Cash
Expenditures Other

Balance as of
December 31,

2008
Severance and other employee
benefits $ 12.6 

$ 6.1 $ (13.2)
(0.3)

$
5.2 

Contract termination costs 1.8 -- (0.2) -- 1.6 
Other exit costs 0.1 0.5 (0.6) -- -- 

$ 14.5 $ 6.6 $ (14.0) (0.3) $ 6.8 
Note 10.   Acquisitions

     In October 2006, the Company acquired all of the outstanding stock of ASMAS, an Istanbul-based Turkish
producer of refractories for approximately $32.4 million in cash. The terms of the acquisition provide for an additional
purchase price of up to $5 million to be paid in 2009 based upon performance criteria through 2008. The Company
expects to pay $0.7 million in the first quarter of 2009.  The operations of this entity have been included in the
Refractories segment of the Company's financial statements since the date of the acquisition.
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     The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
the acquisition:

(Millions of Dollars) 2006

Current assets $ 5.1
Property, plant and equipment 13.5
Intangible assets 8.6
Goodwill 13.8

Total assets acquired 41.0

Liabilities assumed 8.6

Net cash paid $ 32.4

     The weighted average amortization period for the acquired intangible assets subject to amortization is
approximately 13.5 years. Goodwill associated with this transaction is not tax deductible.

     Pro forma financial information has not been presented since this business combination was not material to the
Company's total assets or results of operations.
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Note 11.  Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

   The carrying amount of goodwill was $66.4 million and $72.0 million as of December 31, 2008 and December 31,
2007, respectively. The net change in goodwill since December 31, 2006 was primarily attributable to the effect of
foreign exchange.

     Acquired intangible assets included in other assets and deferred charges subject to amortization as of December 31,
2008 and December 31, 2007 were as follows:

December 31, 2008 December 31, 2007

(Millions of Dollars)
Gross

Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Patents and trademarks $ 7.4 $ 3.2 $ 7.9 $ 2.7

Customer lists 9.2 1.9 11.1 1.4

Other 0.4 0.2 0.4 0.1

$ 17.0 $ 5.3 $ 19.4 $ 4.2

     The weighted average amortization period for acquired intangible assets subject to amortization is approximately
15 years. Amortization expense was approximately $1.4 million, $1.5 million and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The estimated amortization expense is $1.2 million for each of the
next five years through 2013.

     Included in other assets and deferred charges is an additional intangible asset of approximately $4.0 million which
represents the non-current unamortized amount paid to a customer in connection with contract extensions at eight
satellite PCC facilities. In addition, a current portion of $1.5 million is included in prepaid expenses and other current
assets. Such amounts will be amortized as a reduction of sales over the remaining lives of the customer contracts.
Approximately $1.8 million was amortized in 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Estimated amortization as a
reduction of sales is as follows: 2009 - $1.5 million; 2010 - $1.2 million; 2011 - $0.9 million; 2012 - $0.6 million;
2013 - $0.6 million; with smaller reductions thereafter over the remaining lives of the contracts.

Note 12.  Accounting for Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

     The Company accounts for impairment of long-lived assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets." SFAS No. 144 also establishes a uniform accounting model for the
disposal of long-lived assets. Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In such instances, the Company
estimates the undiscounted future cash flows (excluding interest) that result from the use of the asset and its ultimate
disposition. If the sum of the
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undiscounted cash flows (excluding interest) is less than the carrying value, the Company recognizes an impairment
loss, measured as the amount by which the carrying value exceeds the fair value of the asset, determined principally
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using discounted cash flows.

     During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company recorded a writedown of impaired assets of $0.2 million for the
closure of its satellite facility at Dryden, Canada.

     In 2007, following an in-depth strategic review of all its operations, the Company recorded a charge of $140.9
million, of which $46.9 million was reclassified to discontinued operations, as part of a program to realign its
operations by consolidating operations within certain product lines and exiting certain businesses. Major components
of this realignment include an exit from our Synsil&#174 Products product line; consolidation of our Specialty PCC
operations in the United States; sale of our two plants in the Midwest that process imported ore in the Processed
Minerals product line; modification of our strategy for coating PCC resulting in the closure of one facility; and a
slower than anticipated market penetration at our refractories facility in China resulting in an impairment of assets
charge.

     The impairment charge relates to all product lines. The following table reflects the components of the impairment
of assets charge included in continuing operations:

(millions of dollars)

Paper PCC $ 65.3
Specialty PCC 12.7
Total PCC 78.0
Processed Minerals 1.3

Specialty Minerals
Segment

79.3

Refractories Segment 14.8
$ 94.1

Note 13.   Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

     The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations. As part of its risk management strategy,
the Company uses forward exchange contracts (FEC) to manage its exposure to foreign currency risk on certain raw
material purchases. The Company's objective is to offset gains and losses resulting from these exposures with gains
and losses on the derivative contracts used to hedge them. The Company has not entered into derivative instruments
for any purpose other than to hedge certain expected cash flows. The Company does not speculate using derivative
instruments.

     By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rates and foreign currencies, the
Company exposes itself to credit risk and market risk. Credit risk is the risk that the counterparty will fail to perform
under the terms of the derivative contract. When the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty
owes the Company, which creates credit risk for the Company. When the fair value of a derivative contract is
negative, the Company owes the counterparty, and therefore, it does not face any credit risk. The Company minimizes
the credit risk in derivative instruments by entering into transactions with major financial institutions.

     Market risk is the adverse effect on the value of a financial instrument that results from a change in interest rates,
currency exchange rates, or commodity prices. The market risk associated with interest rate and forward exchange
contracts is managed by establishing and monitoring parameters that limit the types and degree of market risk that
may be undertaken.

     Based on criteria established by SFAS No. 133, the Company designated its derivatives as cash flow hedges. The
Company uses FEC's designated as cash flow hedges to protect against foreign currency exchange rate risks inherent
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in its forecasted inventory purchases. The Company had 18 open foreign exchange contracts as of December 31, 2008.

     For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or
loss on the derivative instrument is initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate
component of shareholders' equity and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged
transaction is recognized in earnings. The gains and losses associated with these forward exchange contracts are
recognized into cost of sales. Gains and losses and hedge ineffectiveness associated with these derivatives were not
significant.
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Note 14.  Short-term Investments

     The composition of the Company's short-term investments are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2008 2007

Short-term Investments -

Available for Sale Securities:

Short-term bank deposits $ 9,258 $ 9,697

         There were no unrealized holding gains and losses on the short-term bank deposits held at December 31, 2008
since the carrying amount approximates fair market value.

Note 15:  Fair Value of Financial Instruments

     Effective January 1, 2008, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS 157, "Fair Value Measurements" for its
financial assets and liabilities. While adoption of SFAS 157 has no material impact on its financial statements, the
Company is required to provide additional disclosures. SFAS 157 defines fair value as an exchange price that would
be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The Company utilizes market data or assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing the asset or liability. SFAS 157 establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value. These tiers include: Level 1, defined as observable inputs such as quoted prices in active
markets; Level 2, defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable; and Level 3, defined as unobservable inputs about which little or no market data exists, therefore requiring
an entity to develop its own assumptions.

     Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are based on one or more of three valuation techniques noted in SFAS
157. The three valuation techniques are as follows:

&#8226 Market approach - prices and other relevant information generated by market
transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabilities.

&#8226 Cost approach - amount that would be required to replace the service capacity of an
asset or replacement cost.

&#8226 Income approach - techniques to convert future amounts to a single present amount
based on market expectations, including present value techniques, option-pricing and
other models.
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     The Company primarily applies the income approach for foreign exchange derivatives for recurring fair value
measurements and attempts to utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs.

     As of December 31, 2008, the Company held certain financial assets and liabilities that were required to be
measured at fair value on a recurring basis. These consisted of the Company's derivative instruments related to foreign
exchange rates. The fair values of foreign exchange rate derivatives are determined based on inputs that are readily
available in public markets or can be derived from information available in publicly quoted markets and are
categorized as Level 2. The Company does not have any financial assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a
recurring basis categorized as Level 1 or Level 3, and there were no transfers in or out of Level 3 during the year
ended December 31, 2008. There were also no changes to the Company's valuation techniques used to measure asset
and liability fair values on a recurring basis.
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     The following table sets forth by level within SFAS 157's fair value hierarchy the Company's financial assets and
liabilities accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2008. As required by SFAS 157, assets
and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement
requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair
value hierarchy levels.

Assets (Liabilities) at Fair Value as of December 31,
2008

Quoted
Prices

In Active
Markets for
Identical Assets

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

Significant

Unobservable
Inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Forward exchange contracts $ -- $ 1,696 $ --

Total $ -- $ 1,696 $ --

Note 16.  Financial Instruments and Concentrations of Credit Risk

     The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable: The carrying amounts
approximate fair value because of the short maturities of these instruments.

Short-term debt and other liabilities: The carrying amounts of short-term debt and other liabilities approximate fair
value because of the short maturities of these instruments.

Long-term debt: The fair value of the long-term debt of the Company is estimated based on the quoted market
prices for that debt or similar debt and approximates the carrying amount.
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Forward exchange contracts: The fair value of forward exchange contracts (used for hedging purposes) is
estimated by obtaining quotes from brokers. If appropriate, the Company would enter into forward exchange contracts
to mitigate the impact of foreign exchange rate movements on the Company's operating results. It does not engage in
speculation. Such foreign exchange contracts would offset losses and gains on the assets, liabilities and transactions
being hedged. At December 31, 2008, the Company had open foreign exchange contracts with a financial institution
to purchase approximately $6.4 million of foreign currencies. These contracts range in maturity from January, 2009 to
July, 2009. The fair value of these instruments was a liability of $0.4 and $0.1 million, respectively, at both December
31, 2008 and December 31, 2007.

Additionally, the Company entered into forward contracts to purchase 30 million Euros as a hedge of its net
investment in Europe. These contracts mature in October 2013. The fair value of these instruments at December 31,
2008 was an asset of $2.1 million.

Credit risk: Substantially all of the Company's accounts receivables are due from companies in the paper,
construction and steel industries. Credit risk results from the possibility that a loss may occur from the failure of
another party to perform according to the terms of the contracts. The Company regularly monitors its credit risk
exposures and takes steps to mitigate the likelihood of these exposures resulting in actual loss. The Company's
extension of credit is based on an evaluation of the customer's financial condition and collateral is generally not
required.

     The Company's bad debt expense (recoveries) for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $0.2
million, $(0.1) million and $0.4 million, respectively.

F-20

MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 17.  Long-Term Debt and Commitments

     The following is a summary of long term debt:

(thousands of dollars)                                             Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2007  

5.53% Series 2006A Senior Notes

Due October 5, 2013 $ 50,000 $ 50,000

Floating Rate Series 2006A Senior Notes

Due October 5, 2013 25,000 25,000

Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial

Development Revenue Bonds Due 2009 4,000 4,000

Economic Development Authority Refunding

Revenue Bonds Series 1999 Due 2010 4,600 4,600

Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial

Development Revenue Bonds Due August 1, 2012 8,000 8,000

Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial

Development Revenue Bonds Series 1999 Due November 1, 2014 8,200 8,200

Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial
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Development Revenue Bonds Due March 31, 2020 -- 5,000

Variable Rate Renminbi Denominated Loan Agreement

Due 2009 -- 4,785

Installment obligations

Due 2013 1,421 7,886

Other borrowings -- 745

Total 101,221 118,216

Less: Current maturities 4,000 7,210

Long-term debt $ 97,221 $111,006

The Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due 2009 are tax-exempt 15-year instruments issued
to finance the expansion of a PCC plant in Selma, Alabama. The bonds are dated November 1, 1994, and provide for
an optional put by the holder (during the Variable Rate Period) and a mandatory call by the issuer. The bonds bear
interest at either a variable rate or fixed rate at the option of the Company. Interest is payable semi-annually under the
fixed rate option and monthly under the variable rate option. The Company has selected the variable rate option on
these borrowings and the average interest rates were approximately 2.53% and 3.69% for the years ended December
31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

     The Economic Development Authority Refunding Revenue Bonds due 2010 were issued on February 23, 1999 to
refinance the bonds issued in connection with the construction of a PCC plant in Eastover, South Carolina. The bonds
bear interest at either a variable rate or fixed rate, at the option of the Company. Interest is payable semi-annually
under the fixed rate option and monthly under the variable rate option. The Company has selected the variable rate
option on these borrowings and the average interest rates were approximately 2.53% and 3.69% for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

     The Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due August 1, 2012 are tax-exempt 15-year
instruments that were issued on August 1, 1997 to finance the construction of a PCC plant in Courtland, Alabama. The
bonds bear interest at either a variable rate or fixed rate, at the option of the Company. Interest is payable
semi-annually under the fixed rate option and monthly under the variable rate option. The Company has selected the
variable rate option on these borrowings and the average interest rates were approximately 2.53% and 3.69% for the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

     The Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due November 1, 2014 are tax-exempt 15-year
instruments and were issued on November 30, 1999 to refinance the bonds issued in connection with the construction
of a PCC plant in Jackson, Alabama. The bonds bear interest at either a variable rate or fixed rate at the option of the
Company. Interest is payable semi-annually under the fixed rate option and monthly under the variable rate option.
The Company has selected the variable rate option on these borrowings and the average interest rates were
approximately 2.53% and 3.69% for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

     On June 9, 2000 the Company entered into a twenty-year, taxable, Variable/Fixed Rate Industrial Development
Revenue Bond agreement to finance a portion of the construction of a merchant manufacturing facility for the
production of Specialty PCC in Brookhaven, Mississippi. This facility has ceased operations during the first quarter of
2008 and the Company repaid this obligation on March 31, 2008.
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     On May 31, 2003, the Company acquired land and limestone ore reserves from the Cushenbury Mine Trust for
approximately $17.5 million. Approximately $6.1 million was paid at the closing and $11.4 million was financed
through an installment obligation. The interest rate on this obligation is approximately 4.25%. For the year ending
December 31, 2008, $6.5 million of principal was paid on this debt. The remaining principal payment of $1.4 million
will be made in 2013.

     On October 5, 2006, the Company, through private placement, entered into a Note Purchase Agreement and issued
$75 million aggregate principal amount unsecured senior notes. These notes consist of two tranches: $50 million
aggregate principal amount 5.53% Series 2006A Senior Notes (Tranche 1 Notes); and $25 million aggregate principal
amount Floating Rate Series 2006A Senior Notes (Tranche 2 Notes). Tranche 1 Notes bear interest of 5.53% per
annum, payable semi-annually. Tranche 2 Notes bear floating rate interest, payable quarterly. The average interest rate
on Tranche 2 for the years ended December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 was 4.09% and 5.73%, respectively.
The principal payment for both tranches is due on October 5, 2013.

     During the first quarter of 2007, the Company entered into a series of Renminbi ("RMB") denominated loan
agreements through two of its consolidated joint ventures in China with Communication Bank of China, totaling RMB
60,000,000. During 2007, the Company repaid RMB 25.0 million of principal related to these loans. During 2008, the
Company repaid the remaining RMB 35.0 million related to these loans. The interest rate on these loans was
approximately 7.56%.

     The aggregate maturities of long-term debt are as follows: 2009 - $4.0 million; 2010 - $4.6 million; 2011 - $--
million; 2012 - $8.0; 2013 - $-- million; thereafter - $84.6 million.

     The Company had available approximately $169.8 million in uncommitted, short-term bank credit lines, of which
$13.4 million was in use at December 31, 2008.

     Short-term borrowings as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $15.0 million and $9.5 million, respectively. The
weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 was 6.15%
and 6.22%, respectively.

     During 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively, the Company incurred interest costs of $5.3 million, $9.2 million and
$8.9 million including $0.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.6 million, respectively, which were capitalized. Interest paid
approximated the incurred interest cost.

Note 18.  Benefit Plans

Pension Plans and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

     The Company and its subsidiaries have pension plans covering the majority of eligible employees on a contributory
or non-contributory basis.

     Benefits under defined benefit plans are generally based on years of service and an employee's career earnings.
Employees generally become fully vested after five years.

     The Company provides postretirement health care and life insurance benefits for the majority of its U.S. retired
employees. Employees are generally eligible for benefits upon retirement and completion of a specified number of
years of creditable service. The Company does not pre-fund these benefits and has the right to modify or terminate the
plan in the future.
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     The funded status of the Company's pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans at December 31, 2008 and
2007 is as follows:

Obligations and Funded Status

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of
year

$ 194.8 $ 214.5 $ 40.0 $ 44.0

Service cost 7.1 8.8 2.1 2.6
Interest cost 11.1 11.4 2.4 2.4
Actuarial (gain) loss 5.4 (24.6 ) (0.3 ) (7.9 )

Benefits paid (3.6 ) (17.0 ) (2.3 ) (1.1 )

Plan amendments -- (2.1 ) -- --
Settlements (19.6 ) -- -- --
Foreign exchange impact (10.9 ) 3.4 -- --
Other 0.4 0.4 -- --

Benefit obligation at end of year $ 184.7 $ 194.8 $ 41.9 $ 40.0

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2008 2007

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets beginning of
year

$ 244.5 $ 226.3 $ -- $ --

Actual return on plan assets (40.1 ) 8.3 -- --
Employer contributions 3.2 24.0 2.3 1.1
Plan participants' contributions -- 0.5 -- --
Benefits paid (3.6 ) (17.0 ) (2.3 ) (1.1 )

Settlements (19.6 ) -- -- --
Foreign exchange impact (10.9 ) 3.0 -- --
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Other -- 2.4 -- --

Fair value of plan assets at end of
year

$ 173.5 $ 244.5 $ -- $ --

Funded status $ (11.2 ) $ 49.7 $ (41.9 ) $ (40.0 )

    Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet consist of:

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2008 2007

Non-current asset $ 0.5 $ 53.7 $ -- $ --
Current liability (0.2 ) -- (1.5 ) (1.5 )

Non-current liability (11.5 ) (4.0 ) (40.4 ) (38.5 )

Recognized asset (liability) $ (11.2 ) $ 49.7 $ (41.9 ) $ (40.0 )

     The current portion of pension liabilities is included in accrued compensation and related items.

     Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2008 2007

Net actuarial loss $ 55.2 $ 24.9 $ 3.3 $ 3.6
Prior service cost 5.4 6.3 1.1 1.4

Amount recognized end of year $ 60.6 $ 31.2 $ 4.4 $ 5.0

     The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $168.4 million and $179.5 million at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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     Changes in the Plan assets and benefit obligations recognized in other comprehensive income:

(Millions of Dollars)
Pension Benefits

Post Retirement
Benefits

Current year actuarial gain (loss) $ (33.2 ) $ 1.7

Amortization of actuarial (gain) loss 1.46 0.1

Amortization of prior service credit loss 0.9 0.3

Total recognized in other comprehensive income $ (30.9 ) $ 2.1

     The components of net periodic benefit costs are as follows:

Edgar Filing: ROYAL BANK OF CANADA - Form 424B2

84



Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006
Service cost $ 7.1 $ 8.8 $ 7.9 $ 2.1 $ 2.6 $ 2.1
Interest cost 11.1 11.4 10.1 2.4 2.4 2.2
Expected return on plan assets (17.5) (18.8) (15.4) -- -- --
Amortization of prior service cost 1.5 1.5 1.0 0.6 0.5 1.0
Recognized net actuarial loss 2.3 2.8 3.2 0.2 0.8 0.2
SFAS No. 88 Settlement /curtailment

(gain) loss 7.1 0.1 (0.8) -- -- --
Net periodic benefit cost $ 11.6 $ 5.8 $ 6.0 $ 5.3 $ 6.3 $ 5.5

     Unrecognized prior service cost is amortized over the average remaining service period of each active employee.

     In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 88, "Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of
Defined Benefit Plans and for Termination of Benefits," the Company recorded a pre-tax pension settlement charge of
$7.1 million relating to employees that received lump-sum distributions in connection with the restructuring program
initiated in 2007. Approximately $0.3 million of this charge was included in discontinued operations.

     Under the provisions of SFAS No. 88, lump-sum distributions from terminations, resulted in a plan curtailment of
one of the Company's pension plans and also caused partial settlement of such plan. As a result, there was a
curtailment loss in income from operations of $0.1 million in 2007 and a curtailment gain in income from operations
of $0.8 million in 2006.

     The Company's funding policy for U.S. plans generally is to contribute annually into trust funds at a rate that
provides for future plan benefits and maintains appropriate funded percentages. Annual contributions to the U.S.
qualified plans are at least sufficient to satisfy regulatory funding standards and are not more than the maximum
amount deductible for income tax purposes. The funding policies for the international plans conform to local
governmental and tax requirements. The plans' assets are invested primarily in stocks and bonds.

     The 2009 estimated amortization of amounts in other comprehensive income are as follows:

(Millions of Dollars)
Pension Benefits

Post Retirement
Benefits

Amortization of prior service cost $ 1.6 $ 0.5
Amortization of net loss 7.5 0.2
     Total costs to be recognized $ 9.1 $ 0.7
Additional Information

     The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost in the accounting for the pension
benefit plans and other benefit plans for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.30% 5.75% 5.75%
Expected return on plan assets 8.00% 8.50% 8.50%
Rate of compensation increase 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%
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     The weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for the pension benefit plans and other
benefit plans at December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:

2008 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.20 % 6.25 % 5.75 %

Rate of compensation increase 3.50 % 3.50 % 3.50 %

     For 2008, 2007 and 2006, the discount rate was based on a Citigroup yield curve of high quality corporate bonds
with cash flows matching our plans' expected benefit payments. The expected return on plan assets is based on our
asset allocation mix and our historical return, taking into account current and expected market conditions. The actual
return (loss) on pension assets was approximately (19%) in 2008, 4% in 2007 and 10.5 in 2006.

     The Company's Plan stipulates that the maximum health care cost trend rate will be 5%.

     A one percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects:

Millions of Dollars
1-Percentage

Point
Increase

1-Percentage
Point

Decrease
Effect on total service and interest
cost components

$
-- $ (0.4)

Effect on postretirement benefit
obligations

$
-- $ (3.2)

Plan Assets

     The Company's pension plan weighted average asset allocations at December 31, 2008 and 2007 by asset category
are as follows:

Asset Category 2008 2007
Equity securities 11.7% 62.5%
Fixed income securities 85.7% 35.0%
Real estate 0.1% 0.2%
Other 2.5% 2.3%

Total 100% 100%

     During 2008, due to the economic crisis, the assets for all of the U.S. pension plans were moved to fixed income
securities.

     The following table presents domestic and foreign pension plan assets information at December 31, 2008, 2007 and
2006 (the measurement date of pension plan assets):

U.S. Plans International Plans

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Fair value of plan assets $ 132.8 $ 188.7 $ 177.9 $ 40.7 $ 55.8 $ 48.4
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Conributions
     The Company expects to contribute $6 million to its pension plans and $1.5 million to its other postretirement
benefit plan in 2009.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

     The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:

Millions of Dollars
Pension
Benefits

Other
Benefits

2009 $ 8.4 $ 1.5
2010 $ 10.8 $ 1.6
2011 $ 11.4 $ 1.8
2012 $ 12.1 $ 2.0
2013 $ 13.9 $ 2.3
2014 - 2018 $ $ 83.1 $ 17.0
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Investment Strategies

     The investment strategy for pension plan assets is to maintain a broadly diversified portfolio designed to achieve
our target of an average long-term rate of return of 8%. While we believe we can achieve a long-term average rate of
return of 8%, we cannot be certain that the portfolio will perform to our expectations. Assets are strategically allocated
among equity, debt, and other investments in order to achieve a diversification level that dampens fluctuations in
investment returns.

     We have temporarily invested our assets in fixed income securities due to the uncertainty in the markets, but have
not changed our long-term strategy.

Savings and Investment Plans

     The Company maintains a voluntary Savings and Investment Plan for most non-union employees in the U.S.
Within prescribed limits, the Company bases its contribution to the Plan on employee contributions. The Company's
contributions amounted to $3.2 million, $3.4 million and $3.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Notes 19.  Leases

     The Company has several non-cancelable operating leases, primarily for office space and equipment. Rent expense
amounted to approximately $7.5 million, $7.0 million and $6.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively. Total future minimum rental commitments under all non-cancelable leases for each of the
years 2009 through 2013 and in aggregate thereafter are approximately $6.2 million, $3.9 million, $2.4 million, $1.3
million, $0.6 million, respectively, and $6.0 million thereafter. Total future minimum rentals to be received under
non-cancelable subleases were approximately $2.9 million at December 31, 2008.

     Total future minimum payments to be received under direct financing leases for each of the years 2009 through
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2013 and the aggregate thereafter are approximately: $6.7 million, $3.5 million, $2.4 million, 1.3 million, 1.0 million
and $1.1 million thereafter.

Note 20.  Litigation

     Certain of the Company's subsidiaries are among numerous defendants in a number of cases seeking damages for
exposure to silica or to asbestos containing materials. The Company currently has 307 pending silica cases and 26
pending asbestos cases. To date, 1,158 silica cases and 2 asbestos cases have been dismissed. One new asbestos case
was filed in the fourth quarter of 2008. Most of these claims do not provide adequate information to assess their
merits, the likelihood that the Company will be found liable, or the magnitude of such liability, if any. Additional
claims of this nature may be made against the Company or its subsidiaries. At this time management anticipates that
the amount of the Company's liability, if any, and the cost of defending such claims, will not have a material effect on
its financial position or results of operations.

     The Company has not settled any silica or asbestos lawsuits to date. We are unable to state an amount or range of
amounts claimed in any of the lawsuits because state court pleading practices do not require identifying the amount of
the claimed damage. The aggregate cost to the Company for the legal defense of these cases since inception was
approximately $0.1 million, the majority of which has been reimbursed by Pfizer Inc. pursuant to the terms of certain
agreements entered into in connection with the Company's initial public offering in 1992. During 2008, agreement
was reached with Pfizer for reimbursement by Pfizer of past costs of defense, and direct payment of such costs going
forward, to the extent these cases allege exposure to product sold prior to the formation of the Company. During the
fourth quarter, Pfizer reimbursed the Company in the amount of $0.1 million for past defense costs. Our experience
has been that the Company is not liable to plaintiffs in any of these lawsuits and the Company does not expect to pay
any settlements or jury verdicts in these lawsuits.

Environmental Matters

     On April 9, 2003, the Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection ("DEP") issued an administrative
consent order relating to our Canaan, Connecticut, plant where both our Refractories segment and Specialty Minerals
segment have operations. We agreed to the order, which includes provisions requiring investigation and remediation
of contamination associated with historic use of polychlorinated biphenyls ("PCBs") at a portion of the site. The
following is the present status of the remediation efforts:
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&#8226Building Decontamination.

We have completed the investigation of building contamination and submitted a report characterizing the contamination. We are
awaiting review and approval of this report by the regulators. Based on the results of this investigation, we believe that the
contamination may be adequately addressed by means of encapsulation through painting of exposed surfaces, pursuant to the
Environmental Protection Agency's ("EPA") regulations and have accrued such liabilities as discussed below. However, this conclusion
remains uncertain pending completion of the phased remediation decision process required by the regulations.

&#8226Groundwater. We have completed investigations of potential groundwater contamination and have submitted a report on the
investigations finding that there is no PCB contamination, but some oil contamination of the groundwater. We expect the regulators to
require confirmatory long term groundwater monitoring at the site.

&#8226Soil.
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We have completed the investigation of soil contamination and submitted a report characterizing contamination to the regulators. Based
on the results of this investigation, we believe that the contamination may be left in place and monitored, pursuant to a site-specific risk
assessment, which is underway. However, this conclusion is subject to completion of a phased remediation decision process required by
applicable regulations.

     We believe that the most likely form of remediation will be to leave existing contamination in place, encapsulate it,
and monitor the effectiveness of the encapsulation. We estimate that the cost of the likely remediation above would
approximate $400,000, and that amount has been recorded as a liability on our books and records.

     The Company is evaluating options for upgrading the wastewater treatment facilities at its Adams, Massachusetts,
plant. This work is being undertaken pursuant to an administrative Consent Order issued by the Massachusetts
Department of Environmental Protection on June 18, 2002. The Order required payment of a civil fine in the amount
of $18,500, the investigation of options for ensuring that the facility's wastewater treatment ponds will not result in
discharge to groundwater, and closure of a historic lime solids disposal area. The Company informed the
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection of proposed improvements to the wastewater treatment
system on June 29, 2007, and is committed to implementing the improvements by June 1, 2012. Preliminary
engineering reviews indicate that the estimated cost of these upgrades to operate this facility beyond 2012 may be
between $6 million and $8 million. The Company estimates that the remaining remediation costs would approximate
$400,000, which has been accrued as of December 31, 2008.

     The Company and its subsidiaries are not party to any other material pending legal proceedings, other than routine
litigation incidental to their businesses.

Note 21.  Stockholders' Equity

Capital Stock

     The Company's authorized capital stock consists of 100 million shares of common stock, par value $0.10 per share,
of which 18,691,802 shares and 19,090,139 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively,
and 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock, none of which were issued and outstanding.

Cash Dividends

     Cash dividends of $3.8 million or $0.20 per common share were paid during 2008. In February 2009, a cash
dividend of approximately $0.9 million or $0.05 per share, was declared, payable in the first quarter of 2009.

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights

     Under the Company's Preferred Stock Purchase Rights Plan, each share of the Company's common stock carries
with it one preferred stock purchase right. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the plan, the rights will
become exercisable if a person or group acquires beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company's common
stock or announces a tender or exchange offer that would result in the acquisition of 30% or more thereof. If the rights
become exercisable, separate certificates evidencing the rights will be distributed, and each right will entitle the holder
to purchase from the Company a new series of preferred stock, designated as Series A Junior Preferred Stock, at a
predefined price. The rights also entitle the holder to purchase shares in a change-of-control situation. The preferred
stock, in addition to a preferred dividend and liquidation right, will entitle the holder to vote on a pro rata basis with
the Company's common stock.

     The rights are redeemable by the Company at a fixed price until 10 days or longer, as determined by the Board,
after certain defined events or at any time prior to the expiration of the rights on September 13, 2009 if such events do
not occur.
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Stock and Incentive Plan

     The Company has adopted a Stock Award and Incentive Plan (the "Plan"), which provides for grants of incentive
and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock awards or performance unit awards. The Plan is
administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Stock options granted under the Plan have a
term not in excess of ten years. The exercise price for stock options will not be less than the fair market value of the
common stock on the date of the grant, and each award of stock options will vest ratably over a specified period,
generally three years.

     The following table summarizes stock option and restricted stock activity for the Plan:

Stock Options Restricted Stock

Shares
Available
for Grant Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share ($) Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Share ($)

Balance January 1, 2006 849,107 1,185,765 45.15 84,755 54.20
Granted (129,500) 79,200 54.82 50,300 54.91
Exercised/vested -- (103,392) 39.02 (255) 39.30
Canceled 9,504 (9,504) 35.80 -- --
Balance December 31, 2006 729,111 1,152,069 46.44 134,800 55.61
Granted (233,750) 146,100 61.19 87,650 61.27
Exercised/vested -- (433,965) 43.01 (33,363) 55.42
Canceled 80,043 (24,489) 55.67 (55,554) 56.56
Balance December 31, 2007 575,404 839,715 50.51 133,533 58.98
Granted (180,900) 112,300 64.47 68,600 64.06
Exercised/vested -- (261,460) 43.97 (28,267) 56.45
Canceled 41,346 (28,774) 57.90 (12,572) 58.30
Balance December 31, 2008 435,850 661,781 55.14 161,294 61.63
Note 22.  Comprehensive Income

     Comprehensive income includes changes in the fair value of certain financial derivative instruments that qualify
for hedge accounting to the extent they are effective, the recognition of deferred pension costs, and cumulative foreign
currency translation adjustments.

     The following table reflects the accumulated balances of other comprehensive income (loss):

Millions of Dollars Currency
Translation
Adjustment

Unrecognized
Pension
Costs

Net Gain
(Loss) On
Cash Flow
Hedges

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Balance at January 1, 2006 $ (2.8 ) (3.0 ) (0.1 ) (5.9 )

36.0 (51.3 ) -- (15.3 )
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C u r r e n t  y e a r  n e t
change

Balance at December
31, 2006 33.2 (54.3

)

(0.1
)

(21.2 )

C u r r e n t  y e a r  n e t
change 48.5 18.1 -- 66.6

Balance at December
31, 2007 81.7 (36.2

)

(0.1
)

45.4
C u r r e n t  y e a r  n e t
change (49.4

)

(28.8
)

1.2 (77.0 )

Balance at December
31, 2008 $ 32.3 $ (65.0

)

$ 1.1 $ (31.6 )

     The income tax expense (benefit) associated with items included in other comprehensive income (loss) was
approximately $(18.0) million, $11.2 million and $1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Note 23.  Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations

     SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations," establishes the financial accounting and reporting
for obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. The
Company
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 records asset retirement obligations in which the Company will be required to retire tangible long-lived assets. These
are primarily related to its PCC satellite facilities and mining operations. The Company has also applied the provisions
of FIN 47 related to conditional asset retirement obligations at its facilities. The Company has recorded asset
retirement obligations at all of its facilities except where there are no contractual or legal obligations. The associated
asset retirement costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount of the long-lived asset.

     The following is a reconciliation of asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2008 and 2007:

Millions of Dollars

2008 2007
Asset retirement liability, beginning of
period $ 12.9

$ 11.7

Accretion expense 0.7 0.8
Payments (0.2) (0.1)
Foreign currency translation (0.4) 0.5
Asset retirement liability, end of period $ 13.0 $ 12.9
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     The current portion of the liability of approximately $0.4 million is included in other current liabilities. The
long-term portion of the liability of approximately $12.6 million is included in other noncurrent liabilities.

     Accretion expense is included in cost of goods sold in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations.

Note 24.  Non-Operating Income and Deductions

(Millions of dollars)
Dec. 31,
2008

Dec. 31,
2007

Dec. 31,
2006

Interest income $ 4.9 $ 3.1 $ 1.8
Interest expense (5.2) (8.7) (8.3)
Gain on insurance
settlement -- 3.0 1.8
Foreign exchange gains
(losses) 1.7 0.5 (0.3)
Other income
(deductions) (1.1

)
(0.9) (0.9)

Non-operating income (deductions),
net $ 0.3 $ (3.0) $ (5.9)
     During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company recognized a business interruption insurance recovery gain of $3.0
million related to Hurricane Ivan in 2004.

     During the first quarter of 2006, the Company recognized an insurance settlement gain of $1.8 million, net of
related deductible, for property damage sustained at one of our facilities in 2004 as a result of Hurricane Ivan. Claims
submitted to the insurance carrier for damages related to a combination of replacement costs for fixed assets and
reimbursement of expenses associated with the clean-up and repairs at the facility. The insurance settlement gain
related to the reimbursement of replacement costs for fixed assets in excess of the net book value of such assets.

Note 25.  Transaction with Former Parent Company

     Under the terms of certain agreements entered into in connection with the Company's initial public offering in
1992, Pfizer Inc ("Pfizer") agreed to indemnify the Company against any liability arising from claims for remediation,
as defined in the agreements, of on-site environmental conditions relating to activities prior to the closing of the initial
public offering. The Company had asserted to Pfizer a number of indemnification claims pursuant to those agreements
during the ten-year period following the closing of the initial public offering. Since the initial public offering, the
Company has incurred and expensed approximately $6 million of environmental claims under these agreements. On
January 20, 2006, Pfizer and the Company agreed to settle those claims, along with certain other potential
environmental liabilities of Pfizer, in consideration of a payment by Pfizer of $4.5 million. Such payment was
recorded as additional paid-in-capital, net of its related tax effect. During 2008, agreement was reached with Pfizer
providing for reimbursement by Pfizer of past costs of defense, and direct payment of such costs going forward, for
cases alleging damages from exposure to product sold prior to the formation of the Company. During the fourth
quarter, Pfizer reimbursed the Company in the amount of $0.1 million for past defense costs.
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Note 26.  Segment and Related Information

     Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is
available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in
assessing performance. The Company's operating segments are strategic business units that offer different products
and serve different markets. They are managed separately and require different technology and marketing strategies.

     The Company has two reportable segments: Specialty Minerals and Refractories. The Specialty Minerals segment
produces and sells precipitated calcium carbonate and lime, and mines, processes and sells the natural mineral
products limestone and talc. This segment's products are used principally in the paper, building materials, paints and
coatings, glass, ceramic, polymers, food, automotive, and pharmaceutical industries. The Refractories segment
produces and markets monolithic and shaped refractory products and systems used primarily by the steel, cement and
glass industries as well as metallurgical products used primarily in the steel industry.

     The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. The Company evaluates performance based on the operating income of the respective business units.
Depreciation expense related to corporate assets is allocated to the business segments and is included in their income
from operations. However, such corporate depreciable assets are not included in the segment assets. Intersegment
sales and transfers are not significant.

     Segment information for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was as follows:

2008

(Millions of Dollars)
Specialty
Minerals Refractories Total

Net sales $ 716.4 $ 395.8 $ 1,112.2

Income from operations 57.0 26.3 83.3

Impairment of assets 0.2 -- 0.2

Restructuring and other charges 7.7 5.7 13.4

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 64.3 15.8 80.1

Segment assets 632.4 396.1 1,028.5

Capital expenditures 18.2 11.5 29.7

2007

(Millions of Dollars)
Specialty
Minerals Refractories Total

Net sales $ 716.6 $ 361.1 $ 1,077.7

Income (loss) from operations (20.0 ) 11.5 (8.5 )

Impairment of assets 79.3 14.8 94.1

Restructuring and other charges 11.3 4.7 16.0

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 68.1 16.5 84.6

Segment assets 698.8 395.6 1,094.4

Capital expenditures 32.9 11.9 44.8
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2006

Specialty
Minerals Refractories Total

Net sales $ 675.6 $ 347.9 $ 1,023.5

Income from operations 60.5 31.9 92.4

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 66.1 14.4 80.5

Segment assets 795.8 356.2 1,152.0

Capital expenditures 40.0 16.0 56.0
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   A reconciliation of the totals reported for the operating segments to the applicable line items in the consolidated
financial statements is as follows:

(Millions of Dollars)

Income (loss) before provision for taxes on income and

minority interests and discontinued operations 2008 2007 2006

Income (loss) from operations for reportable segments $ 83.3 $ (8.5 ) $ 92.4

Unallocated corporate expenses (1.3 ) -- --

Interest income 4.9 3.1 1.8

Interest expense (5.2 ) (8.7 ) (8.3 )

Other income (deductions) 0.6 2.6 0.7

Income (loss) before provision for taxes on income,

minority interests and discontinued
operations $ 82.3 $ (11.5 ) $ 86.6

Total assets 2008 2007 2006

Total segment assets $ 1,028.5 $ 1,094.4 $ 1,152.0

Corporate assets 39.1 34.5 41.1

Consolidated total assets $ 1,067.6 $ 1,128.9 $ 1,193.1

Capital expenditures 2008 2007 2006

Total segment capital expenditures $ 29.7 $ 44.8 $ 56.0
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Corporate capital expenditures 1.3 1.3 1.4

Consolidated total capital expenditures $ 31.0 $ 46.1 $ 57.4

     The carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment as of December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2007 was as
follows:

Goodwill

(Millions of Dollars) 2008 2007

Specialty Minerals $ 13.4 $ 15.3

Refractories 53.0 56.7

Total $ 66.4 $ 72.0

     The net change in goodwill since December 31, 2007 is primarily attributable to the effect of foreign exchange.

     Financial information relating to the Company's operations by geographic area was as follows:

(Millions of Dollars)

Net Sales 2008 2007 2006

United States $ 586.5 $ 581.9 $ 592.6

Canada/Latin America 83.8 83.3 80.7

Europe/Africa 352.7 337.4 278.4

Asia 89.2 75.1 71.8

Total International 525.7 495.8 430.9

Consolidated total net sales $ 1,112.2 $ 1,077.7 $ 1,023.5
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     Net sales and long-lived assets are attributed to countries and geographic areas based on the location of the legal
entity. No individual foreign country represents more than 10% of consolidated net sales or consolidated long-lived
assets.

(Millions of Dollars)

Long-lived assets 2008 2007 2006

United States $ 296.9 $ 322.4 $ 425.2

Canada/Latin America 13.3 20.1 18.8

Europe/Africa 130.4 172.1 217.1
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Asia 67.1 62.0 75.3

Total International 210.8 254.2 311.2

Consolidated total long-lived assets $ 507.7 $ 576.6 $ 736.4

The Company's sales by product category are as follows:

Millions of Dollars 2008 2007 2006

Paper PCC $ 547.2 $ 542.0 $ 500.6

Specialty PCC 58.5 60.6 56.4

Talc 35.9 37.3 38.9

GCC 74.8 76.7 79.7

Refractory Products 320.8 290.5 264.6

Metallurgical Products 75.0 70.6 83.3

Net sales $ 1,112.2 $ 1,077.7 $ 1,023.5

Note 27.  Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

     The financial information for all periods presented has been reclassified to reflect discontinued operations. See
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information.

Millions of Dollars, Except Per Share Amounts

2008 Quarters First Second Third Fourth

Net Sales by Major Product Line
PCC $ 153.2 $ 158.0 $ 157.2 $ 137.3
Processed Minerals 27.6 31.1 29.5 22.5

Specialty Minerals Segment 180.8 189.1 186.7 159.8
Refractories Segment 96.7 110.7 108.2 80.2

Net sales 277.5 299.8 294.9 240.0

Gross profit 60.7 62.3 59.4 38.0

Income from operations 27.1 28.8 23.0 3.1
Income from continuing operations 16.8 18.7 16.1 3.4
Income from discontinued operations 0.4 4.6 2.9 2.3

Net income $ 17.2 $ 23.3 $ 19.0 $ 5.7

Earnings per share:

Basic:

Earnings per share
from continuing operations $ 0.88 $ 0.99 $ 0.85 $ 0.19

Earnings per share
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from discontinued operations 0.02 0.24 0.16 0.12

Basic earnings per
share $ 0.90 $ 1.23 $ 1.01 $ 0.31
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2008 Quarters First Second Third Fourth

Diluted:
Earnings per share

f r o m  c o n t i n u i n g
operations $ 0.88 $ 0.98 $ 0.85 $ 0.19

Earnings per share
f r o m  d i s c o n t i n u e d
operations 0.02 0.24 0.15 0.12

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.90 $ 1.22 $ 1.00 $ 0.31

Market price range per share of common stock:

High $ 64.74 $ 72.42 $ 68.38 $ 59.36
Low $ 52.29 $ 62.80 $ 60.73 $ 37.89
Close $ 61.72 $ 64.65 $ 61.62 $ 40.90

Dividends paid per common share $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05

2007 Quarters First Second Third Fourth

Net Sales by Major Product Line
PCC $ 148.6 $ 149.5 $ 150.3 $ 154.1
Processed Minerals 27.4 31.3 29.2 26.3

Specialty Minerals Segment 176.0 180.8 179.5 180.4
Refractories Segment 89.5 90.6 87.0 93.9

Net sales 265.5 271.4 266.5 274.3
Gross profit 56.5 60.1 56.3 59.6

Income (loss) from operations 22.7 26.9 (82.2 ) 24.1
Income (loss) continuing operations 12.6 16.1 (71.8 ) 17.4
Loss from discontinued operations (1.8 ) (1.7 ) (33.7 ) (0.6 )

Net income (loss) $ 10.8 $ 14.4 $ (105.5 ) $ 16.8

Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic:

Earnings (loss) per share
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from continuing operations $ 0.66 $ 0.84 $ (3.72 ) $ 0.90
Earnings (loss) per share

discontinued operations (0.09 ) (0.09 ) (1.75 ) (0.03 )

B a s i c  e a r n i n g s
(loss) per share $ 0.57 $ 0.75 $ (5.47

)

$ 0.87

Diluted:
Earnings (loss) per share

from continuing operations $ 0.65 $ 0.83 $ (3.72 ) $ 0.89
Earnings (loss) per share

from discontinued operations (0.09 ) (0.09 ) (1.75 ) (0.03 )

Diluted  earnings
(loss) per share $ 0.56 $ 0.74 $ (5.47

)

$ 0.86

Market price range per share of common stock:

High $ 64.00 $ 68.39 $ 70.64 $ 70.91
Low $ 56.80 $ 62.58 $ 63.07 $ 63.62
Close $ 62.16 $ 66.95 $ 67.00 $ 66.95

Dividends paid per common share $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05 $ 0.05
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The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Minerals Technologies Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary
companies as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders'
equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008. In connection with our
audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the related financial statement schedule. These
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the

standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
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used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008,
in conformity with U.S.

generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

As discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted
FASB Interpretation No. 48, "Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes." In addition, effective January 1, 2006,
the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 123R, "Share-Based Payment,"
SFAS No. 151, "Inventory Costs - an Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4," and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue
No. 04-06, "Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred During Production in the Mining Industry." Also as discussed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 158,
"Employers' Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans - An Amendment of FASB
Statements No. 87, 88, 106, and 132(R)."

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), Mineral Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies' internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2008, based on

criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO), and our report dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
February 25, 2009
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders

Minerals Technologies Inc.:

We have audited Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies' internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary
companies' management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

In our opinion, Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control -
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Minerals Technologies Inc. and subsidiary companies as of December 31,
2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders' equity, and cash flows and related
financial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2008, and our report
dated February 25, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule.

/s/ KPMG LLP

New York, New York
February 25, 2009
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Management's Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

     Management of Minerals Technologies Inc. is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of its
published consolidated financial statements. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles and, as such, include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by
management. The Company also prepared the other information included in the annual report and is responsible for its
accuracy and consistency with the consolidated financial statements.

     Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting.
The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the
Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report reliable financial data. The Company maintains a system
of internal control over financial reporting, which is designed to provide reasonable assurance to the Company's
management and board of directors regarding the preparation of reliable published financial statements and
safeguarding of the Company's assets. The system includes a documented organizational structure and division of
responsibility, established policies and procedures, including a code of conduct to foster a strong ethical climate,
which are communicated throughout the Company, and the careful selection, training and development of our people.

     The Board of Directors, acting through its Audit Committee, is responsible for the oversight of the Company's
accounting policies, financial reporting and internal control. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors is
comprised entirely of outside directors who are independent of management. The Audit Committee is responsible for
the appointment and compensation of the independent registered public accounting firm. It meets periodically with
management, the independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors to ensure that they are
carrying out their responsibilities. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing an oversight role by
reviewing and monitoring the financial, accounting and auditing procedures of the Company in addition to reviewing
the Company's financial reports. The independent registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors have full
and unlimited access to the Audit Committee, with or without management, to discuss the adequacy of internal control
over financial reporting, and any other matters which they believe should be brought to the attention of the Audit
Committee.

     Management recognizes that there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any system of internal control
over financial reporting, including the possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of internal
control. Accordingly, even effective internal control over financial reporting can provide only reasonable assurance
with respect to financial statement preparation and may not prevent or detect misstatements. Further, because of
changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting may vary over time.

     The Company assessed its internal control system as of December 31, 2008 in relation to criteria for effective
internal control over financial reporting described in "Internal Control - Integrated Framework" issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on its assessment, the Company has
determined that, as of December 31, 2008, its system of internal control over financial reporting was effective.

     The consolidated financial statements have been audited by the independent registered public accounting firm,
which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all meetings of
stockholders, the Board of Directors and committees of the Board. Reports of the independent registered public
accounting firm, which includes the independent registered public accounting firm's attestation of the effectiveness of
the Company's internal control over financial reporting are also presented within this document.

/s/ Joseph C. Muscari
Chairman of the Board

/s/ John A. Sorel
Senior Vice President, Finance
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and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

/s/ Michael A. Cipolla
Vice President, Corporate Controller
and Chief Accounting Officer

February 25, 2009
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MINERALS TECHNOLOGIES INC. & SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
SCHEDULE II-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

(thousands of dollars)

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Additions
Charged to
Costs,

Provisions
and`

Expenses

(b)
Deductions

(a)

Balance
at End
of

Period
Year ended December 31, 2008
Valuation and qualifying accounts
deducted from

assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 3,223 $ 159 $ 782 $ 2,600

Year ended December 31, 2007
Valuation and qualifying accounts
deducted from

assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 4,550 $ (49) $ (1,278) $ 3,223

Year ended December 31, 2006
Valuation and qualifying accounts
deducted from

assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 5,818 $ 377 $ (1,645) $ 4,550

(a)Includes impact of translation of foreign currencies.
(b)Provision for bad debts, net of reversal of recoveries of $0.2 million, $-- million and $0.4 million in

2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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